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1. Introduction 
 

1.1 “O son of Prtha, in this world there are two kinds of created beings. One is called divine and the other 

demonic. I have already explained to you at length the divine qualities. Now hear from Me of the 

demoniac. Those who are demoniac do not know what is to be done and what is not to be done. Neither 

cleanliness, nor proper behavior, nor truth is found in them. The demoniac, who are lost to themselves 

and who have no intelligence, engage in unbeneficial, horrible works meant to destroy the world”. 

1.2 Those are words from one of the oldest scriptures known to man. Those who have journeyed the 

course of life come to a similar conclusion empirically; there are two kinds of humans, the first make you 

long for a birth on a planet with more evolved souls and the second make you feel like a few more years 

of service to our Creator on this planet may not be that painful after all. When those we entrust with 

power fall in the former category, the entire society falls prey to the mean spirited and unintelligent 

nature of less evolved beings. 

1.3 In the middle of 2016 I was busy trying to sort out the affairs of my aging parents when I came across 

a pending property tax issue with a municipality in the state of Kerala where my father owned an 

inherited ancestral property. This was a property my father had wanted to dispose off in 2010 but I 

suggested that he leave the property in my name after his lifetime so I could use that as my base to 

conduct charitable work in my retired years. After all, it was likely to be my last connection with India 

and it was a great opportunity to share my knowledge and experience with the younger generation in 

the village where my father and his father before him had grown up. My father was the very first 

individual to ever graduate as a Civil Engineer in this village, and having followed in my father’s footsteps 

into the engineering profession, I felt there was a lot I could offer the younger generation in terms of 

education and career guidance. In 2005, I had made my first inroads in this regard by being a volunteer 

teacher at the local high school in Koyilandy during a summer vacation. I had even bigger dreams that 

would allow me to funnel some of my annual charity funds to healthcare and community housing to 

those most in need in this village.  

1.4 Sadly, the events discussed in this dossier have left me with such a bitter taste for the political and 

judicial system in Kerala, it is now unlikely I will ever pursue my charitable ambitions in that region of the 

world.  

1.5 The fundamental issue of contention is why the Koyilandy Municipality decided to classify my 

father’s ancestral property as a rental property in 2005, when a previous such classification was 

challenged in 2001 and the Municipality admitted my father’s appeal and accepted payments 

subsequently for four years in a row at owner occupied rates. Further, my mother was the sole 

occupant of the property from 2003 to 2010, a fact that has never been disputed by anyone. So, what 

is the reason for the 2005 demand of arrears and reclassification as a rental property? The entire case 

hinges on this singular question. Everything else is bureaucratic rigmarole very consciously designed 

to delay, confuse and deceive. 

1.6 On the surface, this appeared like a very petty issue, but I couldn’t explain why it had dragged on 

since 2005. Further, I noticed the High Court of Kerala was approached on this issue and they had issued 

a “stay order”. But even that didn’t seem particularly noteworthy until I came across a handwritten 
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letter written by my mother to the Secretary of the Municipality with a copy marked to the chief 

Minister of Kerala. What was written in that letter was simply shocking! This piqued my curiosity and I 

was determined to pursue the case further. 

1.7 The essence of my mother’s letter was that someone in the Municipality had told her that the 

reason for the reclassification of the property in 2005 (with retrospective effect from 2000) as a rental 

property was a revenge response for not giving the house on rent to the then secretary of the 

Municipality. I was flabbergasted! Really? Is that really possible? Are elected and appointed officials in a 

democracy capable of such an abuse of power? Surely this must be a miscommunication! 

1.8 The case has dragged on for seventeen years! My mother is now in an advanced stage of dementia. 

She doesn’t even recognize me anymore, so I couldn’t possibly get any more details about this case from 

her. My father is almost ninety and it is hard for him to get any of the old documentations on this case. 

The odds of learning the history of this case were stacked up against me.  

1.9 As I endeavored to gather copies of old letters and High Court rulings, it became obvious to me the 

case was very intentionally conflated in the years following the 2005 incident. Clearly there is no 

argument that the house was occupied by my mother in 2005. It is not a rental property. On what 

grounds does the municipality hike the property tax in 2005 to rental rates with retrospective effect 

from 2000 and demand arrears when they knew fully well that it is owner-occupied? 

1.10 My choices however were limited. I could try and pursue this matter further in the Indian courts or 

I could just give up and pay the arrears and start afresh and get the Municipality to change the status of 

this property to a vacant status going forward. The amount of time and energy to pursue this further in 

the courts seemed prohibitive. Surely the Municipality wouldn’t be that evil that they would resist 

acknowledging the property’s current vacant status even after I pay the undue arrears. Well, I would be 

wrong. 

1.11 On the 9th of September 2016, I paid a visit to the Koyilandy Municipality and met the Secretary in 

person. Her name is Cheryl Irene Solomon. She sounded like she had little time to spare for me, but 
out of obligation to her position as the Secretary she volunteered a few minutes nevertheless. I told her 
I had come all the way from Seattle to see if she could help me sort out the pending property tax issue 
with my father’s property. She asked me a few details about the property and asked me if the property 
was located in the Chairman’s jurisdiction. I indicated that I didn’t know the Chairman nor his 
jurisdiction. She then asked me if my father had a lawyer and if she could have his contact details. I was 
able to furnish her with that information. She told me she will be in touch with the lawyer and sort out 
the matter quickly. I told her that I found the case intriguing and asked if she would have time to discuss 
this over coffee. She indicated she wouldn’t have the time. I thanked her for talking to me and as I 
walked out the door, she asked why I would bother fighting this case since I could afford to pay the 
arrears. This was the most telling statement into her line of thinking. Her sense of fairness was not 
dictated by the law or the facts, but her view on my affordability. I told her I would like to see if an 
equitable resolution is possible in a timely manner. She told me she will work on it and thanked me for 
trying to close the case promptly. I bid farewell.  
 

1.12 What transpired over the course of the next twelve months however has vindicated my worst 

fears – An Indian municipality is indeed capable of levels of abuse, incompetence and malice that 

would seem alien to most of us blessed to live in civilized and law-abiding societies.  
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1.13 The following is a summary of the events over the last 12 months: 

1.13.1 In response to my September 2016 visit, I was notified by the Secretary of the Municipality 

on the 18th Nov 2016 by email that the case was sorted out and arrears to the tune of Rs. 

26,333.00/- were due (Appendix 14). There was no mention of the details of the verdict. 

Neither did she provide any details on how this arrear amount was calculated. What I was 

oblivious to at this point is that she had coordinated with my father’s lawyer to finalize a 

court ruling on a case my father’s lawyer had filed with the High Court of Kerala. My father’s 

lawyer, a gentleman named K.T. Shyam Kumar, had exchanged a couple of emails with me 

during my September visit, but he had suddenly become inaccessible. He stopped 

responding to my emails and never returned any phone calls. So I was unaware of the High 

Court case or the ruling. The date of the Secretary’s notification is of significance as well. It 

was coordinated to ensure the appeal period for the High Court ruling she had coordinated 

was limited or past. 

 

1.13.2 Since there was no legal advice immediately available to rely on, I decided to pay the full 

amount on the 2nd of December 2016 (Appendix 15) and notified the Secretary once again 

that the house is vacant and to make the necessary changes to reflect that in the property 

taxes going forward (Appendix 16). 

 

1.13.3 I never received a reply until the 11th of April 2017 (Appendix 17). Again, this date is 

significant. This was designed to ensure the March deadline was past for the submission of 

the Vacancy notification. In an age when even property tax payments are being automated 

to online payments, the Koyilandy municipality decided to insist that they will only accept 

hardcopy notifications submitted in person or through an agent to notify them that a house 

was vacant. 

 

1.13.4 Finally on the 20th August after multiple requests for clarification, I got an email dated 11th 

August 2017 stating that the onus was on me to submit a hardcopy of the notification that 

the house is vacant before the September deadline because my previous email notifications 

“were not according to the rules” (Appendix 22). I had to do this every six months. Further, 

they left ample room for future excuses to not honor any hardcopy notifications as well. 

The municipality was going to first validate the truthfulness of the notification and then 

confirm that the house was not occupied for “even one day”. In other words, someone who 

goes inside to clean the house could be accused of “occupying” the house. 

 

1.14 The email of 20th August 2017 (dated 11th August 2017 - Appendix 22) was the one that finally 

crystalized the ulterior intensions of the municipality and confirmed to my mind that this case was very 

intentionally built-up and prolonged. The Municipality Vacancy Act (Appendix 24) is clear and concise. 

The Act even provides for a refund in cases where property taxes may have been paid in the past for a 

property that was vacant. The Koyilandy municipality however has taken its most extreme 

interpretation so as to ensure that they could once again delay this matter and deny my father the 

benefits of the law. 
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1.15 For seventeen years and counting the Koyilandy municipality has blatantly abused its power and 

overcharged my parents. No one can deny that it is illegal for a municipality to charge rental rates when 

a house is owner occupied or vacant. The Koyilandy municipality has hence perpetrated an illegal act for 

seventeen years and continues to do so with the full support of the Highest Court in the state. Their 

actions reflect an unconscionable abuse of power. Their actions are an insult to those who bled for 

independence from colonial powers on grounds that the Indian people are capable of self-government.   

1.16 The efficacy of any system of government is premised on the integrity of those we entrust with 

power. If the very custodians of justice can harass, bully, connive and molest their senior citizens over 

such a minor issue for seventeen years, imagine what they can do to those who are even more culpable 

and less capable of defending themselves. While India claims to be the world’s largest democracy, the 

life of a common man in Kerala is at the mercy of the corrupt mafia-like government who will go to any 

length to conflate issues so as to pretend they are conforming to the law, when in reality their true 

motivations and intentions could not be any further from it.  

1.17 After I left the Secretary’s office, I tried to understand the hierarchy of the political system in 
Kerala. As it turns out, the Chairman is the equivalent of a Mayor and is an elected official while the 
Secretary is an appointed position. To thrive in this political system both have to pay allegiance to the 
political party.  Few, if any, have the courage to speak up against the powers in the party. The Chairman 
at the Koyilandy Municipality is a gentleman by the name Advocate K. Satyan. He is a member of the 
Communist party. It is under his watch that the events of the last twelve months (Sept 2016 to Sept 
2017) occurred. 
 

1.18 In my research to gather all the facts for this case over the last several months, I spoke to several 

people in Kerala and all acknowledged that my experience is not unique. Such experiences are standard 

practice in Kerala. Influence with the Communist party and bribery is the key to survival in Kerala. In the 

words of one, “if you know a member of the communist party anything is possible in Kerala, if you 

don’t, nothing is possible”.  

1.19 Imagine human existence under the pretext of a free and democratic society, where subservience 

to a political party trumps every other consideration. That too, a political party that subscribes to an 

outdated ideal that has failed every nation that ever had the misfortune of either foolishly or naively 

experimenting with its philosophy. I suppose Kristofferson was right… freedom is indeed just another 

word for nothing left to lose. 

1.20 So one may reasonably ask why I would bother pursuing this issue any further. It is a question I 

have asked myself several times. Upon deeper reflection I recognize I don’t have the power to change 

the corrupt ways in Kerala, but I do find an obligation to document this story and all future 

developments related to it for posterity so the next generation in Kerala will have visibility to the 

mistakes of the past and hopefully find the courage to not repeat them. Their progress in life and their 

acceptance and inclusion by other societies will depend heavily on changing the ways of their 

leadership. Actions rooted in pettiness, malice and corruption, have never helped secure the future of 

any nation. On the contrary, it is a sure recipe for alienation and stagnation. No individual or political 

party can survive if the majority recognizes that a better and more equitable society is possible and 

demands change. 

http://www.quilandymunicipality.in/council
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1.21 My goals in writing up this dossier can be summarized as follows: 

 

1.21.1 To expose the lack of jurisprudence at the highest level of justice in Kerala and allow the 

High Court of Kerala an opportunity to respond. 

 

1.21.2 To expose the co-conspirator status of the government of Kerala in this illegal action by the 

Koyilandy Municipality and allow the Kerala government an opportunity to respond.  

 

1.21.3 To expose the incompetence, corruption and malice of the Koyilandy municipality in the 

hope that it will bring greater transparency to the workings of the Koyilandy municipality in 

the future. 

 

1.21.4  To raise awareness of the abuse of power issues in Kerala.  
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2 Summary of Sequence of Events 
 

2.1 In the interest of brevity and clarity of the case as a whole, I have summarized the events of the last 

seventeen years in the table below. I will elaborate on each of these events in subsequent sections. 

 

Event # Event Dates Event Comment 

1 Dec 2000 Notice of Property Tax rate hike from Rs. 
252/- to Rs. 1801/-. The claim is that this 
letter was given to my uncle’s wife on the 
8

th
 Dec 2000. This letter was received by 

my father early in March of 2001. 

This was the first and only 
notice by the Municipality to 
raise the property tax to rental 
rates. 

2 18
th

 March 2001 Full Notice amount of Rs. 1549/- (Rs.1801 
– Rs.252 previously paid for the year) 
paid and Appeal filed stating house is not 
rented. 

The full payment was made 
since that was a prerequisite to 
filing an appeal. Appeal was filed 
on 18

th
 March 2001. 

3 5
th

 July 2001 Annual tax for 2001/02 accepted at 
Municipality counter for Rs. 252/- (pre-
notice rate) and receipt issued.  

No mention of arrears in writing 
or verbally at this time. This 
clear receipt issued at the 
Municipality counter is proof 
that appeal against tax hike is 
admitted and notice of Dec 2000 
is now extinct. 

4 19
th

 Oct 2002 Annual tax for 2002/03 accepted at 
Municipality counter for Rs. 252/- (pre-
notice rate) plus a late fee of Rs. 14.00 
and receipt issued (Appendix 1) 

No mention of arrears in writing 
or verbally. This payment further 
proves that any late payment 
attracts instant fine. 

5 6
th

 Sept 2003 Annual tax for 2003/04 accepted at 
Municipality counter for Rs. 252/- (pre-
notice rate) and receipt issued (Appendix 
2) 

No mention of arrears in writing 
or verbally at this time. 

6 2
nd

 June 2004 Annual tax for 2004/05 accepted at 
Municipality counter for Rs. 252/- (pre-
notice rate) and receipt issued (Appendix 
3) 

No mention of arrears in writing 
or verbally at this time. 

7 29
th

 June 2005 Agent who went to pay Rs. 252/- at 
Municipality counter was told that an 
amount over Rs. 15,000/- was to be paid 
in arrears before current tax is accepted. 
No other information was given to the 
agent or to my mother (who by the way, 
used to visit Municipality office 
frequently during the period 2003 to 
2005). 

Nothing was given in writing. 
This was a verbal 
communication to the Agent. 
Subsequent to this verbal 
demand, my father sent many 
letters asking how these arrears 
came about. Two of these 
letters are provided in Appendix 
4 and 5. There was no Response 
for 2 years! Most likely reason 
why nothing was given in writing 
was because Municipality was 
hoping to settle the matter 
through a private deal. 
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8 3
rd

 Nov 2005 Letter from my mother to the 
Municipality (Appendix 6) with copy 
marked to Chief Minister of Kerala. 

This is the letter that piqued my 
interest in this case. It alleges 
abuse of power perpetrated by 
the officials at the Koyilandy 
Municipality. 

9 16
th

 Jan 2006 Tax for 2005-06 was sent as a money 
order for Rs. 252/- because Municipality 
staff were insisting on payment of arrears 
without giving an explanation for the 
arrears. 

Money order accepted by 
Municipality but no receipt was 
issued. 

10 4
th

 July 2006 Tax for 2006-07 was sent as a money 
order for Rs. 252/- because Municipality 
staff were insisting on payment of arrears 
without giving an explanation for the 
arrears. 

Money order accepted by 
Municipality but no receipt was 
issued. 

11 11
th

 May 2007 Tax for 2007-08 was sent as a money 
order for Rs. 252 because Municipality 
staff were insisting on payment of arrears 
without giving an explanation for the 
arrears. 

Money order accepted by 
Municipality but no receipt was 
issued. 

12 11
th

 June 2007 Attempt to force Municipality to respond 
by asking the Municipality to issue 
receipts for payments in Event 9, 10 and 
11 above for a loan application (Appendix 
7). 

Note that we have received 
absolutely nothing in writing 
about the arrears so far (2 
years!).  

13 29
th

 June 2007 Received 2 notices from Municipality in 
one envelope, one dated 20

th
 June 2007 

and the other is undated (Appendix 8). 
First one demands Rs. 20,022/- within 15 
days of receipt and the other (undated) 
demands Rs. 21,097/- in 3 days. The 
notice ignores the payment of Rs. 1549/- 
made on 18

th
 March 2001. Also a Rs. 5/- 

notice charge was added for every year 
even though notice was never sent! The 
money order sent for 2006-07 was not 
acknowledged either. Claim of arrears is 
baseless as it is issued on the strength of 
the Dec 2000 notice that was already 
extinct as on 5

th
 July 2001. 

These notices were received at 
the property by my mother 
(residing permanently in the 
house) on 29

th
 June 2007. 

Further proof that the property 
is owner occupied. What a sad 
reflection on the credibility of 
the Koyilandy Municipality! 
Notice of the so called arrears 
claiming the house is on rent is 
accepted by the wife of the 
owner of the building staying 
there permanently. What 
further proof is needed to show 
that this whole claim of arrears 
is a fraud on the owner of the 
building by the corrupt 
Municipality staff! 
Acknowledgement of this notice, 
signed by my mother can been 
seen in Appendix 8.  

14 25
th

 Feb 2008 Second response from Municipality 
claiming the reason for the arrears is 
because my father did not file an appeal 
to the Dec 2000 hike notice in a timely 
manner (Appendix 9) 

This letter conceals all the 
events from 2001 to 2004 
recorded in items #2 through #6 
above! That is they deny that a 
full payment of the notice 
amount, filing of appeal in 2001, 
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and regular payments (at pre-
notice rates) were accepted at 
the counter in 2001, 2002, 2003 
and 2004. Clear receipts were 
issued for each of those years. 

15 20
th

 Feb 2009 Third response from Municipality. Here 
they inadvertently acknowledge that the 
Dec 2000 notice was in fact acted upon 
by my father and full payment made after 
which an appeal was in fact filed on 18

th
 

March 2001 (they have the year incorrect 
in the letter) - Appendix 10.  

Now we know the letter of 25
th

 
Feb 2008 was a complete lie and 
it is upon this lie that the whole 
case of arrears claim was built-
up! Municipality at last admits 
that appeal was in fact filed as 
required, yet did nothing to 
withdraw the claim of arrears. 
High Court has no relief for the 
tax payer either.  
 

16 11
th

 Aug 2009 Writ Petition 22824/2009 (Appendix 11) 
submitted to the High Court because of 
the threat of recovery action by the 
Municipality. 

Note the reliefs sought in this 
writ and then see if any of these 
reliefs are addressed in the final 
ruling. Clear indication that the 
High Court failed to address the 
concerns that relate to the 
points of law. 

17 11
th

 Aug 2009 High Court issues stay order for one 
month ensuring Municipality can’t take 
any action. (Appendix 12). According to 
my father’s lawyer there was a 
subsequent indefinite stay – “status-quo 
until further orders” 

Lawyer told my father that this 
stay order implies “Status-quo”. 
Meaning keep paying at current 
rates. 

18 26
th

 Sept 2016 Final Judgment by the High Court 
(Appendix 13) 

Note how the High Court 
refused to address any one of 
the reliefs sought in the writ. 
Instead the High Court accepted 
the Municipality’s version of 
events without requiring any 
proof. Note also how our lawyer 
made no statement in this ruling 
to represent our side of the 
case. Also our lawyer refused to 
forward this verdict. He simply 
stopped responding to emails 
and phone calls. I had to seek 
outside help to get a copy of this 
verdict. 

19 18
th

 Nov 2016 Fourth response from the Municipality 
claiming the arrears to the tune of Rs. 
26,333/- were due (Appendix 14). 

When I received this, I had no 
background on the ruling in 
Event 18 since our lawyer had 
not communicated with me. 
Most likely reason for this is that 
the lawyer was either 
threatened by the communist 
party members or offered some 
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political favor in return for 
silence. 

20 2
nd

 Dec 2016 Arrears paid in full (Appendix 15). Since there was no legal advice 
available immediately and none 
to pursue the case in India, I 
paid the full amount and hoped 
the matter would be corrected 
going forward. I would be 
wrong!  

21 12
th

 Dec 2016 Official notification to the Municipality 
that the property is vacant and hence 
should qualify for property tax waiver as 
per the Municipal Act (Appendix 16).  

Here I let the Municipality know 
once again that the property is 
vacant. Note that my father had 
already written many times to 
notify them that the house is 
vacant prior to that. I make 
reference to each of these prior 
notifications along with 
notification receipt numbers. 

22 11
th

 April 2017 Response from Municipality claiming a 
“VR” application is required for property 
tax waiver (Appendix 17). 

An incoherent and terse 
response from the Municipality. 
Note the date when this was 
sent. This was designed to deny 
me an opportunity to file prior 
to the March deadline. 

23 12
th

 April 2017 Clarification sought on “VR” application 
(Appendix 18) 

Here I seek clarification on their 
earlier response. 

24 22
nd

 April 2017 Response to clarification request 
(Appendix 19) 

Yet another response from the 
Municipality that refuses to 
state why emails are an 
insufficient form of vacancy 
notifications. 

25 25
th

 April 2017 Further clarification sought on “VR” 
application particularly asking why Emails 
are not sufficient since Act makes no such 
restrictions (Appendix 20) 

Here I seek further clarification 
on the Municipality’s response 
particularly asking which part of 
the Act or Rules disallow the 
admission of notification by 
email. The Municipality never 
addresses this question. 

26 17
th

 July 2017 Official notification to the Municipality 
that the property is vacant from April 
2017 to September 2017 and hence 
should qualify for property tax waiver as 
per the Municipal Act (Appendix 21). 

I sent yet another vacancy 
notification for the period 
October 2017 to March 2018 as 
well by email. 

27 11
th

 August 2017 Response to Official notification of the 
17

th
 of July 2017 (Appendix 22). 

This is the response that 
crystallizes the intensions of the 
Municipality. They are 
determined to deny my father 
the benefits of the law. 

28 11
th

 May 2017 Official grievance lodged with Prime 
Minister’s office (Appendix 23) 

Prime Minister Modi is sincere in 
trying to resolve these issues 
and is providing great tools to 
voice concerns. But once these 
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concerns reach the Govt of 
Kerala, they don’t see the light 
of day. 

29 26
th

 Sept 2017 Paid Property taxes at rental rates for a 
vacant house for the period April 2017 to 
Sept 2017 (Appendix 27) in spite of 
Vacancy notification by email. 

Note that the Municipality is 
continuing to charge rental rates 
after all the notices to indicate 
the property is vacant. 

30 26
th

 Sept 2017 Notified Municipality through an agent 
that property is vacant for the period Oct 
2017 to March 2018 and received receipt 
(Appendix 25 & 26). 

Let us see what the excuse is 
going to be this time! I will be 
sure to inform the world! 

31 8
th

 Jan 2018 Letter from Municipality claiming arrears 
need to be paid for approving Vacancy 
Remission. Does not mention what the 
arrears are (Appendix 31) 

Just as expected, the 
Municipality has found a way to 
delay justice again! 

32 8
th

 Jan 2018 My Email asking what the arrears in 
Appendix 31 are. (Appendix 32) 

There was no response to this 
letter. 

33 17
th

 Mar 2018 Notified Municipality through an agent 
that property is vacant for period April 
2018 to Sept 2018 and received receipt 
(Appendix 33 & 34) 

I continue to file vacancy notices 
to no avail!!! 

34 17
th

 Mar 2018 Paid Property taxes at rental rates for a 
vacant house for the period October 
2017 to March 2018 (Appendix 35) 

I continue to pay taxes on 
vacant property at Rental 
rates!!!  

35 18
th

 Sept 2018 Notified Municipality through an agent 
the property is vacant for period October 
2018 to March 2019 (Appendix 36) 

Agent was told that taxes need 
not be paid at this time and that 
the agent will be notified after 
the end of September if any 
dues are applicable. 

36 24
th

 Sept 2018 Requested written confirmation of VR 
allowance for the April 2018 to 
September 2018 (Appendix 39). 

No Response to this request 

37 25
th

 Mar 2019 Notified Municipality through an agent 
that the property is vacant for the period 
April 2018 to Sept 2018 and received 
receipt (Appendix 40 & 41) 

No official acknowledgment that 
VR allowance was approved 
despite formal request to do so 
in item #36 above. But they have 
not told us to pay taxes either. 

38 23
rd

 Sept 2019 Notified Municipality through an agent 
that the property is vacant for the period 
April 2018 to Sept 2018 and received 
receipt (Appendix 43 & 44) 

No official acknowledgment that 
VR allowance was approved 
despite formal request to do so 
in item #36 above. But they have 
not told us to pay taxes either. 
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3 Events 1-6: Classification of property as rental property in Dec 2000 
 

3.1 Sometime in December of 2000, the Municipality had issued a notice indicating the tax rates for my 

father’s property were being hiked to rental rates (Event #1). This notice was received by my uncle’s 

wife and later given to my father when he came to India for a visit early in March of 2001. On the 18th of 

March 2001, my father filed an appeal against this decision with the Koyilandy Municipality (Event #2). 

He was subsequently allowed to pay the pre-notice rates on the 5th of July 2001 (Event #3). My father 

continued to pay pre-notice rates on the 19th of Oct 2002 (Event #4 - Appendix 1), 6th of Sept 2003 (Event 

#5 - Appendix 2) and 2nd of June 2004 (Event #6 - Appendix 3) and obtained receipts for each of these 

payments. These payments provide clear evidence that the notice of December 2000 is now extinct.  

3.2 For the purpose of this dossier, the events prior to the year 2000 are irrelevant because these events 

culminated in the notice of 2000 which was appealed against, the appeal was admitted and pre-notice 

rate of tax at Rs 252/- accepted at the Municipality counter on the 5th of July 2001 in full settlement of 

all claims and clear receipts issued. All disputes up until this point are now fully resolved. There are no 

more disputes until the 29th June 2005. There was never an argument that the house was on rent after 

the 5th of July 2001 settlement. If there was any further argument, a fresh notice would have been 

received. No such notice was ever received. 

3.3 Perhaps the most pertinent aspects (in law) of this entire dossier occur in events #3 through #6. 

These events conclusively prove that the Koyilandy Municipality accepted property tax payments at pre-

notice rates for four years in a row subsequent to the filing of the appeal on the 18th of March 2001 (See 

Appendix 1 to 3). As noted in the Writ Petition to the High Court of Kerala (Appendix 11), there is no 

provision in the Act or in the Rules enabling the Municipality to accept part payment of tax. Hence the 

fact that the municipality accepted payments and issued official receipts at pre-notice rates for the years 

2001 through 2004 is tantamount to the adjudication and admission of the appeal of the 18th of March 

2001.  

3.4 These events of 2001-04 further prove beyond doubt that the Dec 2000 notice is no longer in force 

as on the 5th July 2001 or thereafter, otherwise acceptance of pre-notice rate of tax at Rs. 252/- year is 

not possible. 

3.5 The High Court of Kerala has conveniently overlooked this fundamental point of law in their verdict 

on 26th Sept 2016 (Appendix 13). The Municipality concealed these events in the final hearing; The High 

Court faithfully followed the Municipality’s lead and did not question the most pertinent history of the 

case! How is it possible for the highest court of the State to overlook the most vital point of law raised in 

a writ petition?  
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4 Events 7-8: Verbal canvassing for payments over Rs. 15,000/- on 29th 

June 2005 
 

4.1 Event #7 is the singular source of contention in this entire dossier. There is an abundance of 

evidence to prove that the municipality was fully aware that my mother was staying at the property in 

the 2003 to 2010 period. The fact that the Koyilandy Municipality perpetrated this rate hike fully aware 

of my mother’s occupancy is what convinces me that the Koyilandy Municipality is no different than a 

mafia government. How is it possible for a Municipality to claim a house is rented when they are fully 

aware that the owner’s wife is living in the property? And how does the Highest Court of the State 

overlook that fundamental issue? 

4.2 Note that the Municipality never provided anything in writing in 2005 or anytime up to 29th June 

2007 when they were forced to do so. They communicated the demand of over Rs. 15,000/- verbally. 

This is indeed very significant. This tells me they were fully conscious of the illegality of their demand 

and they did not want documentation of any sort. In spite of my father writing many letters from Sydney 

asking for details of the so called arrears, no information was given to him. Clearly, the plan was for a 

possible secret deal, to collect the money and drop the whole case! 

4.3 But why did they perpetrate this act in 2005? What distinguishes 2005 from every year between 

2001 and 2005? To answer that question, we need to study event #8. 

4.4 Event #8 was the letter that intrigued my curiosity in this case (Appendix 6). This is a handwritten 

letter from my mother to the Secretary of the Koyilandy Municipality dated the 3rd of November 2005. 

This letter provides the clearest visibility yet into the events that led to Event #7.  

4.5 In this letter, my mother acknowledges making repeated enquiries into any pending tax dues. In 

paragraph one of her letter my mother writes, when she first enquired the reply was that the tax is 

already paid for the year 2003/04 and the next payment would be in 2005. In the subsequent paragraph 

she notes that “they showed neglect to accept tax from us in 2005. We were not clearly informed of the 

reason. The Municipality’s reply was that there was time up till March to pay”. These statements make 

the following perfectly clear: 

4.5.1 The Municipality staff were fully aware that there was no tax due from us, not to speak of 

arrears. 

4.5.2 The deal was deliberately kept secret for a purpose. 

4.5.3 Not issuing notice of arrears was also a deliberate act. 

4.5.4 In the 3rd paragraph of my mother’s letter, she states that the secretary asked her to give a 

complaint! Surely we have a right to know what action the Municipality has taken on her 

complaint. 

4.6 In order to fully appreciate the context, one needs to be aware of the background of the system. 

Municipality tax receipts is a valuable document for residents to show proof of residency to obtain 

ration cards, gas or electricity connections and such other daily needs. So when an ordinary resident 

approaches the Municipality office for receipts they are to face the opportunistic thugs who grab the 

chance to make money. The situation of a citizen seeking a Municipality tax receipt is thoroughly 
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scrutinized to gain maximum leverage for the best secret bargain. Residents with overseas connections 

are often the worst of victims because “they can afford to pay”. My mother was clearly treated as a 

needy person with overseas connections who, in their mind, was the perfect candidate to exploit! 

4.7 In the letter of the 3rd of Nov 2005, my mother acknowledges making regular visits to the 

Municipality office. Upon further reflection into my mother’s state of mind during this period, it is clear 

to me that my mother was exhibiting signs of extreme anxiety – a prelude to her impending Dementia.  

4.8 This anxiety is construed by the Municipality officials as a great opportunity to make off-the-record 

deals. Looking through the files, they realize there was a rental notice back in 2000. They decide to avail 

this notice for maximum advantage hardly realizing that the notice was already extinct on the 5th July 

2001. They actually decide to claim rental property tax rates when they know that my mother is living in 

the property. The Municipality exploited an aged, frail and demented lady.  They exploited my mother 

mercilessly. 

4.9 How low can a human civilization go? How does any person in their right mind find it in them to 

exploit an aging individual showing signs of mind lapses? If culture and society fails to restrain them, 

wouldn’t the fear of the laws of nature prevent a human from acting in this manner? How can you 

distinguish this behavior from that of an animal in the wild? 
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5 Events 9-12: No demand of arrears for 2 years (2005 – 2007) 
 

5.1 Since the verbal claim of arrears on the 29th of June 2005, there has not been a single notice issued 

in writing until the 20th of June 2007 (Appendix 8). This was despite repeated attempts requesting the 

Municipality to respond in writing. Since the Municipality would not respond and since they would not 

accept property taxes at owner occupied rates, my father resorted to sending Money Orders at owner 

occupied rates in the years 2005 through 2007 (Event #9 to #11), fearing penalties for delay. 

5.2 In fact the written notice of the 20th of June 2007 was received by my mother on the 29th of June 

2007 – exactly 2 years to the day from the original verbal claim of arrears! Is it reasonable for anyone to 

believe that the Municipality would hold off on issuing a written claim for two years if they honestly 

believed the house was rented during that time or if arrears of over Rs. 15,000/- were genuinely due to 

them? Note that it is my mother who is receiving this notice. Why? Because she is the one who is staying 

in the property! Her signature acknowledging the receipt of the notice can be seen in Appendix 8.  Note 

the very basis of the arrear claim is that the house is on rent. It is the owner’s wife living permanently in 

the house that receives and acknowledges the notice. Clearly this falsifies the very basis of the 

Municipality claim of arrears. Furthermore, the notice relies upon the Dec 2000 notice to claim arrears. 

That notice is already extinct on 5th July 2001. If the notice of Dec 2000 was still in force, it was not 

possible for the Municipality to accept pre-notice tax of Rs. 252/- on 5th July 2001. 

5.3 So why did the Municipality finally succumb and issue a written notice in June of 2007? To 

understand this we need to look at Event #12 (Appendix 7). This was an attempt by my father to force the 

municipality to acknowledge their demand of arrears in writing. He asked the municipality to issue 

receipts for the payments he made by money order in the years 2006 through 2007 which he claimed 

was required for a student loan. Under the prevailing law, there were strict penalties for hindering the 

process for student loans and so the municipality was forced to act.  

5.4 By this time, two years had gone by since the original verbal communication of this illegal demand 

and so there is more effort required to prove the illegality. Delays are in favor of those who are trying to 

hide the truth. The longer you delay, the harder it becomes to ascertain the facts. This was always the 

tactic used by the crooks at that Municipality. Delays and secrecy are the modus operandi of the mafia 

that we call the government in Kerala. Delays are not a consequence of inefficiency. It is a time tested 

method to hide their conniving agenda.  

5.5 The current Chairman of the Koyilandy Municipality is a lawyer by profession. It is under the watch 

of his likes that these tactics continue to be employed. The more you study their ways, the more you 

realize that this whole setup is no different than a gang operation. They all pay allegiance to the 

Communist party.  Following the law is just a façade. No one has the guts to speak up against injustice. 

Their very survival depends on subservience to the Communist Party. Education and ethics are 

secondary to the subservience demanded by the Corleones of the Communist Party. 
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6 Events 13-15: Official notice with blatant lies (2007-2009) 
 

6.1 The first written statement of the so called arrears was received on the 29th of June 2007 (Event #13 

- Appendix 8). This statement consisted of two separate letters with two different amounts. The first was 

a letter dated 20th of June 2007 asking to pay up Rs. 20,022/- in arrears within 15 days of receipt and the 

other was an undated letter asking to pay Rs. 21,097/- in arrears within 3 days. So obviously, the 

Municipality is really not sure what the amount should be or what the time limits for payment are. Also, 

there was a Rs. 5 “notice charge” added for every year even though no notice was ever sent! The money 

order sent for the years 2006-07 was not acknowledged either. Neither was the Rs. 1549/- paid on 18th 

Jan 2001. The tenor of the letter clearly exposes anger, confusion and some degree of panic in forcing 

the Municipality to document their claim of arrears. Clearly this was not part of their agenda. 

6.2 However the most deceptive aspect of the letter delivered to my mother on 29th June 2007 is that it 

imposed rental rate of tax on the property with seven years retrospectively, using the Dec 2000 notice 

as the authority. Perpetrators of this fraud hardly realized that the Dec 2000 notice was extinct on the 

5th of July 2001 when pre-notice rates of Rs. 252/- were accepted at the Municipality counter and 

receipts issued for 2001/02.  

6.3 From here on the entire system embarks on damage control. 

6.4 The second response from the Municipality came on the 25th of Feb 2008 (Event #14 - Appendix 9). 

This is in response to my father’s letter of the 3rd Dec 2007 to the finance committee of the Municipality 

- an appeal against their arrear claim issued on 20th June 2007. This response details the cause of the 

arrears. This letter claims the cause of the arrears is because a notice of tax hike was delivered to the 

owner’s sister-in-law on the 8th of December 2000, but the owner ignored this notice and continued to 

send money order amounts at the old rate to the municipality. 

6.5 Further the letter goes on to say that “it is not seen” that my father filed an appeal against the Dec 

2000 tax hike in a timely manner. The wording of that statement is intriguing. Does it imply that an 

appeal was never filed or does it imply that an appeal was filed but not within the stipulated time? This 

wording was very intentional. They were not sure if my father had receipts of that appeal filing. If he did 

not have those receipts they could clearly deny he ever filed the appeal. Yet another avenue for them to 

deny the appeal was to claim the filing was not done in a timely manner. To do that however, they 

would need to prove the date when my father received the notice. They only have the date when they 

claim they delivered the notice to my father’s sister-in-law. 

6.6 What is most interesting about this letter is that it reverts back to the Dec 2000 event (Event #1) as 

the cause of the arrears and not the June 2005 event (Event #7). Why? There is a simple reason – the 

June 2005 hike is without merit and an illegal act by the municipality because my mother was living in 

the house between 2003 and 2010 and clearly there is no cause to change the tax-status of the 

property. But to go back to the Dec 2000 event, they have to explain why receipts were issued between 

2001 and 2004 at owner occupied rates. They have no explanation for that. So what do they do? They 

conceal it!  

6.7 Note what they say in this letter… “the owner ignored this notice and continued to send money 

order amounts at the old rate to the municipality”. That couldn’t be farther from the truth! The owner 
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filed an appeal on the 18th of March 2001 and paid owner occupied rates subsequently from 2001 to 

2004 and has receipts to prove it (Appendix 1, 2 and 3). The owner only reverted to money order after 

the June 2005 event! Municipality statement seems to be a deliberate lie and it is on this lie that the 

Municipality built-up the whole case! 

6.8 Can you imagine a government office blatantly lying to its tax payers and the High Court of Kerala 

ignoring these actions? How corrupt can a society get? The High Court found it compelling to accept the 

Municipality’s statement that the property was rented in Dec 2000. However in the appeal against the 

notice of Dec 2000, the owner stated that the house was not on rent. Surely the Municipality would 

have made spot checks to verify facts before admitting the appeal and accepting pre-notice tax of Rs. 

252/- at the Municipality counter and issuing clear receipts and continued to do so through 2004. The 

High Court simply ignored these facts. 

6.9 Pay particular attention to the letter of the 25th of Feb 2008 (Event #14 - Appendix 9). This is the only 

letter where a reason is given for the arrears demanded in June 2007. The reason stated is that the 

cause of the arrears is because a notice of tax hike was delivered to the owner’s sister-in-law on the 8th 

of December 2000, but the owner ignored this notice and continued to send money order amounts at 

the old rate to the municipality. Now let’s look at the third response from the Municipality. 

6.10 The third response from the municipality was a letter dated 20th Feb 2009 (Event #15 - Appendix 10). 

This is a letter to a lawyer engaged by my father. The lawyer had asked for a refund of the appeal fees 

paid in 2001. In response to this request, the Municipality inadvertently divulges the actual amount and 

date on which the appeal fees were paid. The truth finally comes out! This is proof that truth never 

comes out of the Municipality voluntarily, it has to be extracted. Even in the case of receipted 

payments, they dare to tell lies! The letter dated 20th Feb 2009 clearly falsifies the cause of arrears 

given the letter dated 25th Feb 2008. 

6.11 So now we have admission by the Municipality that an appeal was filed on 18th of March 2001 and 

the full notice amount was paid as part of this filing (Note the letter actually states 18th of March 2000 – 

that is an obvious typographical error. The year was 2001 and not 2000). They claim the December 2000 

hike notice was delivered to my father’s sister-in-law on the 8th of December 2000. My father was out of 

the country and never received this notice till the 1st week of March 2001. The appeal was filed within 

about 14 days of my father receiving this notice.  

6.12 The only remaining question then is if the municipality adjudicated this appeal. That too is implicitly 

answered by the fact my father paid owner occupied rates subsequently for four years (2001-04) and 

obtained clear receipts at the Municipality counter for each of those payments.  

6.13 So the reason provided in the letter of the 25th of Feb 2008 for the arrears demanded in 2007 no 

longer exists, in fact it never existed. There was never any other reason given for the demand of arrears 

in 2007. Yet to this day, the Municipality with the full support of the High Court and the Government of 

Kerala continues to claim that the house is on rent and pursues my ninety year old father.  

6.14 A CAUSE NEVER EXISTED! BUT THE PENALTY CONTINUES!  

6.15 Surely this is a life sentence on my ninety year old father! This pursuit by the Municipality started in 

2000. That notice was appealed against and rental status of the family house reversed in 2001. But the 

pursuit started again in 2005 and continues to this day! 
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6.16 How could there be a life sentence without a cause? Yes, there was a cause! It is exposed through 

one of my mother’s last known letters! Once upon a time my father refused to give the house on rent to 

the then Secretary of the Municipality! Not only that, he had the audacity to ask for details when the 

barons of power in the Municipality office verbally canvassed for over Rs. 15,000/- in 2005!  

6.17 There was a pause for 2 years - 2005 to 2007; but then my father asked for receipts for tax money 

paid up to 2007. Then hell started to open up on him! Two notices were sent asking to pay Rs. 21,097/- 

in 3 days! It seemed the entire government system joined in damage control! My Father’s family house 

was in peril of recovery action!  

6.18 My father sought refuge in the highest court of the State. A cool off period of seven years ensues! 

Then comes the response! It was not a copy of a government note file; It is the final verdict issued by the 

highest custodian of justice in the State! The judge at the High Court of Kerala confirms the life sentence 

on my father!  

6.19 This ninety year old government pensioner has been asked to continue to find Rs. 150/- a month to 

pay rent to the Municipality for a house that has been locked up for the last seven years, because my 

father is too busy caring for his ailing wife – my mother who is terminally ill overseas! What a cruelty! 

What an injustice! What an evil group of thugs we have as our leaders in government! 
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7 Events 16-19: Writ Petition with the High Court of Kerala (2009-

2016) 
 

7.1 On the 17th of Jan 2009 the Municipality apparently issued a notice claiming they intend to follow 

revenue recovery steps. This triggered the lodging of Writ Petition W.P.(C) No. 22824 of 2009 in the High 

Court of Kerala (Event #16 -  Appendix 11) on grounds that by the time the notice was received by my 

father, the 30-day window to appeal to the Tribunal for Local Self Government had expired.  

By going to the highest court in the land, my father was resting his hopes on the very elite of the 

Kerala judicial system. 

7.2 The Writ petition essentially asked for an interim relief to stay all further proceedings for recovery of 

arrears while the Writ petition was pending. The relief was granted on the 11th of Aug 2009 (Event #17 - 

Appendix 12). According to my father’s lawyer, further indefinite stay – “status-quo, until further 

orders” was granted subsequently. 

7.3 In addition, the Writ petition asked for the following permanent reliefs: 

 

7.3.1 Require the Municipality to stop claiming the higher rental Property tax rates or arrears in 

light of the fact that the appeal of 18th March 2001 was filed and adjudicated and four years 

of property taxes accepted at owner occupied rates 

7.3.2 Require the Municipality to accept tax at the rate of Rs. 252 per year until fresh revisions are 

effected after due notice to my father. 

7.3.3 Require the Municipality to refrain from any recovery proceedings. 

 

7.4 After issuing the interim relief on 11th of Aug 2009 and further indefinite stay, the High Court did not 

rule on the permanent reliefs till the 26th of September 2016 (Event #18 - Appendix 13). If the delay of 

seven years was not bad enough, the ruling is mind-boggling. The Judge who ruled in this case is a 

Justice K. Vinod Chandran. 

 

7.4.1 The very first point in the verdict reads that the “petitioner was before this Court earlier 

raising an allegation… where the appeal filed… was kept pending”. This is a very interesting 

statement by Justice K. Vinod Chandran of the High Court of Kerala. He is referring to a 

case that the lawyer my father employed had lodged with the High court asking the High 

Court to ask the Municipality to respond since they had failed to respond to several letters 

previously. That has absolutely nothing to do with this writ petition. The reliefs sought in 

this writ petition are clearly spelt out above. So why does Justice Chandran ignore the reliefs 

requested in this Writ petition and refer to another case? The answer to this becomes 

clearer when we study the subsequent points of the ruling. 

 

7.4.2 The second point in the verdict reads that the counsel appearing for the Municipality states 

that they followed the orders of the court in the previous case and held a hearing but my 
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father did not show up for the hearing. This is also very interesting for two reasons. Note 

how the case is now completely diverted to the previous case and there is no discussion of 

reliefs sought in this Writ. The second thing to note is this Writ petition actually clearly 

addresses why my father did not attend the hearing in point #3 of the “Grounds” section… it 

says… “the stand that notices were issued and they were returned as ‘addressee abroad’ 

cannot be accepted. In fact the Petitioner had addressed several letters to the 1st respondent 

from his house address in Sydney, Australia. It was incumbent on the 1st Respondent to issue 

a notice to his known address when the notices sent to the other address had returned.” 

 

 

7.4.3 The third point is tantamount to the admission of slander without proof by the High Court 

of Kerala. Here the Justice Chandran accepts the Municipality’s statement that an 

inspection in the year 2000 is what uncovered that the property was rented without any 

proof. Interestingly the learned Judge faithfully follows the lead of the Municipality to the 

event of the year 2000 leading to the notice of December 2000, but conveniently ignores 

the further events of 2001 to 2004, when the Petitioner’s appeal against the December 

2000 notice was admitted and pre-notice tax accepted at the municipality counter for four 

years in a row.  

 

7.4.4 The fourth point could not be more ludicrous. It essentially says that since my father didn’t 

show up for the hearing, the municipality decided to keep the rental rates and my father 

could have gone to the Tribunal at the time to appeal this decision. To file this writ with 

the High Court one has to submit cause. The writ clearly states that the reason my father is 

approaching the High Court is because the Municipality bungled the address and by the time 

he was notified it was well past the 30 day deadline to approach the Tribunal. This is so 

fundamental to the writ, but Justice Chandran fails to see this. 

 

7.5 Needless to say this judgment is not befitting the supreme custodian of justice in a state. As a 

reader you can come to your own conclusion on whether incompetence, corruption, malice, 

subservience to political powers or a combination of all these leads to such judgments. According to his 

web site, Judge Chandran obtained his Law Degree from the Kerala Law Academy and started 

practicing in 1991 and was appointed as permanent Judge of the High Court of Kerala on the 24th June 

2013. Surely a verdict of this quality reflects on the Kerala Law Academy. 

7.6 If there is one key item of law in this Writ that should have been ruled on, it would be whether the 

Municipality can claim they have not adjudicated the appeal filed on the 18th March 2001 after they 

accepted payments at owner occupied rates for four years in a row from 2001 through 2004. Judge 

Chandran ignored that primary relief request that was sought in this Writ in his ruling. Instead he 

effectively adjudicated on a previous Writ and ignored the answers to every single one of his claims that 

were already addressed in the Writ petition. 

7.7 There is another very interesting observation to note in this judgment. My father had entrusted this 

case with a lawyer named K. T. Shyam Kumar. He is supposed to have represented my father at the 

above hearing. There is nothing in the verdict that would indicate he participated in anyway. Despite my 



 
 

Page 24 of 114 
Version 1.6 
 

repeated email requests to this lawyer to share a copy of the verdict, I received no reply. I had to use 

other channels to get this verdict. Could this lawyer have been silenced by the Communist party? Or 

could he have been offered some favor in return for silence? Aren’t there rules of engagement and 

conduct dictated by a Bar association of Kerala? 

7.8 Yet another important point to note is that my father was persistent in requesting his lawyer from 

2009 onwards to do all he could to get the final hearing and verdict expedited. Frustrated by the delay, 

my father addressed a letter dated 18th of Jan 2013 to the Director of Municipalities to arrange a 

counter affidavit and get the matter expedited in the High Court of Kerala. This registered letter was 

delivered to the office of the Director of Municipalities in Feb 2013. There was no response. Compare 

this with the events of September 2016; I met the Secretary of the Koyilandy Municipality on the 9th of 

September 2016, when she collected the details of our lawyer. Within 17 calendar days, the party in 

power could not only get the final hearing of the High Court of Kerala but also the final order as they 

would like to have it. The integrity of the High Court of Kerala vis-à-vis the executive is anyone’s guess.  

7.9 Finally on the 18th of Nov 2016, I get an email from the Secretary of the Municipality stating arrears 

to the tune of Rs. 26,333/- were due (Event #19 - Appendix 14). There was no mention of the details of 

the verdict. Neither did she provide any details on how this arrear amount was calculated. What I was 

oblivious to at this point is that the Secretary had coordinated with my father’s lawyer to finalize a court 

ruling on the Writ petition above on the 26th of September 2016.  

7.10 The date of the Secretary’s notification is of significance as well. It was coordinated to ensure the 

appeal period for the High Court ruling she had coordinated was limited or past. 
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8 Events 20-27: An naïve attempt to start afresh (2016-2017) 
 

8.1 After receiving the arrears notice on the 18th of Nov 2016, I was in two minds whether to delve into 

this subject any longer. I knew well that it was not an equitable verdict. Nevertheless, I did not have the 

time to challenge this. There was every indication that I was not dealing with intelligent or reasonable 

people. I thought my best avenue was to pay the dues (Event #20 - Appendix 15) and start afresh. Surely 

these people wouldn’t be that evil that they would continue to harass even after you pay their unfair 

dues. I was wrong! 

8.2 On the 12th of December 2016 (Event #21 - Appendix 16), I sent an official notification by email to the 

Secretary of the Koyilandy Municipality stating that I had paid the arrears in full and that the property is 

vacant. I asked that the Property be categorized as a vacant property and taxes be waived as per the 

allowances for vacant properties. I received no reply.  

8.3 On the 23rd of December 2016, I managed to contact the Minister of Local Government in Kerala, Dr. 

K. T. Jaleel (also a member of the communist party) by telephone and related my predicament. He 

indicated he would look into the matter. I received no further communication from him. This is clear 

evidence of the co-conspirator status of the Kerala government in this illegal pursuit by the Koyilandy 

Municipality.  

8.4 Finally on the 11th of April 2017 (Event #22 - Appendix 17), I got a terse reply from the Secretary of the 

Koyilandy Municipality with acronyms that made no sense to me. 

8.5 On the 12th of April 2017 (Event #23 - Appendix 18) I requested clarifications on the terse reply above. 

8.6 On the 22nd of April 2017 (Event #24 - Appendix 19) I received a reply to my clarification request that I 

had to get translated to understand. This reply would not explicitly state why my email notification of 

the vacancy status was insufficient. 

8.7 On the 25th of April 2017 (Event #25 - Appendix 20) I requested further clarifications on the reply of 

the 22nd April 2017. In particular I questioned the timing of the April reply. I specifically asked if they had 

delayed their response so as to ensure I miss their March deadline and which part of the Act disallows 

vacancy notifications by email. I received no reply. 

8.8 On the 17th of July 2017 (Event #26 - Appendix 21), I sent an email stating the house will continue to 

be vacant for the March 2017 to September 2017 6-month period.  

8.9 On the 20th of August 2017 I got an email with an attachment dated the 11th of August 2017 (Event# 

27 - Appendix 22). After I got the attachment translated, I was convinced that they were determined to 

continue to harass me. I should have known that much earlier. How could I have expected any better 

from people who would exploit aged, frail and demented women like my mother?  

8.10 The Municipality Vacancy Act (Appendix 24) is clear and concise. The Act even provides for a 

refund in cases where property taxes may have been paid in the past for a property that was vacant. 

The Koyilandy municipality however has taken its most extreme interpretation so as to ensure that they 

could once again delay this matter and deny my father the benefits of the law.  
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8.11 The 11th August 2017 response states that to comply with their rules, I would need to submit a 

hardcopy of the vacancy notification at their office, after which they would conduct an investigation 

into the accuracy of my claims and confirm that the house was not occupied for “even one day” during 

that period before they honor the allowances afforded by the law.  

8.12 Surely, anyone who reads that letter would be clear on their true intentions. To trust the integrity 

of this Municipality to validate the truthfulness of my notification and act on it would be like counting 

on Odysseus to deliver my Christmas present. Nevertheless, I do intend to pursue this further and keep 

publishing their actions on this case. At the very least, it should have some entertainment value. 

8.13 At the time of this writing, I have gotten an agent to submit a written notice of vacancy for the 

period October 2017 to March 2018 and also paid tax at rental rates for a vacant house for the period 

April 2017 to Sept 2017 (Appendix 25, 26 and 27). I will keep the world informed. 
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9 Event 28: Writing to the Prime Minister of India (2017) 
 

9.1 Ever since Prime Minister Modi took over office, I have been impressed and deeply appreciative of 

the sincere attempts at bringing India to the world stage with greater economic opportunities and 

political transparency. However, if people like the ones at the Koyilandy Municipality are the ones Mr. 

Modi has to manage, I cannot but feel sorry for his plight. It would be a herculean task to attempt to 

increase the efficiency of a government when you have high level government and judicial officials that 

fail to see the primary function of the government and instead use their position to harass, exploit and 

molest the very people they promise to serve.  

9.2 Prime Minister Modi has an official grievance website where one can lodge complaints against the 

government. I filed a complaint in that website on the 11th of May 2017 (Event #27 - Appendix 23). At the 

time of this writing, the status on that grievance shows that the Central Government forwarded the 

grievance to the Kerala government and once it got to the Kerala government there has been no 

progress for the last four months.   
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10 Conclusion 
 

10.1 What I have documented in this dossier is a very sad commentary on the state of leadership in the 

state of Kerala. I don’t share this with glee or in the hope of any personal gain. In all honesty it is with 

tremendous shame that I openly share these views. After all, my roots belong in Kerala. As I came out of 

the womb of my mother, my first breath consumed the air in Kerala. My first grade was in the Central 

School in Calicut. I have fond memories of the teachers who taught me there. They were very sincere 

and extremely competent people who instilled great values in me. I have the utmost of respect and love 

for them. For the rest of my life on this planet, my place of birth will always read “Kerala”.   

10.2 But none of that will excuse the behavior of the thug-like personalities who hold on to power so as 

to use that power toward corrupt and petty ends. The people of Kerala need to know the consequence 

of such actions and behavior. There is a lot that people like me can offer the younger generation in 

Kerala. People like me are eager to offer everything we can. It will bring great pleasure to give back to 

the society that nourished me for at least a year of my early life. Good leadership should leverage our 

good will and not alienate us. The extra Rs. 1600/- a year these corrupt thugs steal from my parents is 

really of little value, but when they lose our support and leave our minds bitter, the people of Kerala 

lose substantially more.  

10.3 I don’t expect the current leadership at the Koyilandy Municipality to appreciate this view. I think 

my view of their caliber is clearly discernable from this dossier. I must say however, I am disappointed 

with the very elite of the judicial system. I expected more from them. If the judicial system succumbs to 

political pressure, the ultimate safeguards of our governing principles are compromised. The scales of 

justice will no longer stay balanced. They will tip and so will the last bastion of hope. History teaches us 

that that is a very heavy price for any society to pay. 

10.4 As humans we have a moral obligation to handover societies to our children in at least as good a 

form as was handed down to us. From what I have learnt in this dossier, I know if I were to take my last 

breath today, I will not be meeting that obligation. I also know that without the support of those in 

power, I am helpless to change this fate.  

10.5 And so I now bring this to the attention of you the public. I ask you to demand more from your 

leadership and if they fail, make sure you boot them out in the next election. If those with lifetime 

appointments fail you, let the world know. Fear no one. You are no less a human than they are. They get 

paid to serve you.  

10.6 As long as who you know matters more than what you know, as long as connections trump 

competence, progress and justice will elude us. Until that day comes when you can walk into a 

government office in Kerala and get your issues resolved promptly with zero influence and no bribes, 

our obligations toward the next generation will not be complete.  

10.7 There will be those who will scare you from speaking up. Fear not. To die fighting to fulfill your 

obligations is far better than living without fulfilling them.  

10.8 I will conclude with the words of that great moral leader of the 60s who often said “Cowardice asks 

the question, is it safe? Expediency asks the question, is it politic? Vanity asks the question, is it popular? 
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But, conscience ask the question, is it right? And there comes a time when we must take a position that is 

neither safe, nor politic, nor popular, but one must take it because it is right.” 
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11 Official Response from the High Court of Kerala 
 

Dossier sent to Judge Chandran and High Court of Kerala with copy to the Supreme Court of India on the 

1st of Oct 2017. Promised to publish their official response along with this dossier. If and when I receive a 

response, I will add it here. 

 

Justice Chandran & The High Court of Kerala, 
 
Find attached a dossier on a case that your court adjudicated upon on Sept 26th 2016. I intend 
to publish this dossier in the coming weeks. 
 
Revelations in this dossier (Section 7) are highly critical of the jurisprudence employed in 
reaching your verdict in this matter.  
 
I would like to give your Court an opportunity to respond to these allegations so I can include 
them in the published version of this dossier. I will be happy to publish your response verbatim. 
 
For visibility, I have copied the Supreme Court of India on this email. 
 
Kind regards, 
Susheel Gopalan 
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12 Official Response from the Govt. & Political establishment in Kerala 
 

Dossier sent to Kerala Governor, MPs and Kerala state politicians. Promised to publish their responses 

along with this dossier. If and when I receive a response, I will add it here. 

The Governor of Kerala, The Chief Minister of Kerala, Members of the Govt. of Kerala and the 

Kerala Political establishment: 

 

Find attached a dossier titled “Corruption & Pettiness – The greatest impediment to human 

progress”. 

 

I intend to publish this dossier in the coming weeks. Should any of you wish to respond to this 

dossier, I would be happy to include your responses verbatim as part of this publication. 

 

Kind regards, 

Susheel Gopalan 
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13 Official Response from Lawyer 
 

 

From: Shyam Kumar   

Sent: October 4, 2017 12:45 AM 

To: Susheel Gopalan 

Subject: Re: A dossier detailing the case that you represented my father in. 

  

Dear Mr. Gopalan, 

 

13.1  It is the prerogative of the judge to mention the name of the counsel in the body of the judgment. 

The name of the counsel representing the petitioner is clearly mentioned in the cause title of the 

judgment.  Merely because the name of the counsel is not mentioned in the body of the judgment, it 

does not mean that the petitioner was not represented by his counsel in the proceedings.  The case was 

considered by the Court on merits based on the pleadings and arguments and a judgment was rendered. 

I have not noticed the earlier email which you have mentioned here.  Hence it is uncharitable to cast 

aspersions based on surmises and conjunctures.   I express my anguish at the insensitive manner in 

which you have narrated the facts touching on my conduct as a lawyer.  I do not belong to the class of 

lawyers about whom you have mentioned in the dossier.  Hence you my desist from making any such 

disparaging statements in this regard.  

 

Adv. K.T.Shyam Kumar   

 

13.1 Rebuttal to Lawyer’s response 
 

13.1.1 Appendix 28 has the full email thread between the lawyer and I. The above is but the last 

response on that thread. Notice that after the lawyer’s first email to me on the 9th of September 2016, 

there was no response to multiple enquires until he got a copy of this dossier. Isn’t it interesting that the 

lawyer claims that he has “not noticed the earlier emails”, yet he noticed the email with the dossier. Do 

you need to “notice an email” to furnish your client with a copy of the verdict? Also, look at what he 

says in the email of the 9th of September… ”Since the courts are closing for Onam vacation today I will 

be able to get another copy of the order only on 19th”. The 19th never came! 

13.1.2 My emails to the lawyer were not the only attempt to communicate with him. Appendix 29 has a 

copy of the letter my father sent him after a phone conversation he had with the lawyer. There was no 

response to that letter either.  
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13.1.3 Further, going through my father’s phone records, my father attempted to contact the lawyer on 

at least six separate occasions. Each of these calls and the corresponding digest of their conversations 

are documented in Appendix 30. 

13.1.4 The first email that the lawyer sent to me on the 9th of September 2016 is in response to my 

father’s phone conversation with him on the 8th of September at 1pm.  

13.1.5 Note that in the phone call on the 3rd of October 2016 at 2:25pm, the lawyer tells my father that 

the final hearing is scheduled for “this week”.  But now we know that the high court actually ruled on 

the case on the 26th of September 2016. So this was a blatant lie!   

13.1.6 Note my father was informed of the ruling only on the 7th of October 2016 - a whole 2 weeks 

after the actual day of the ruling! This phone call was initiated by my father. So had my father not called, 

the lawyer would not have disclosed then either. 

13.1.7 After the call on the 7th of October 2016, Mr. Shyam Kumar started playing the “unavailable” 

game. Each of the three subsequent calls were either rejected or responded by his wife. 

13.1.8 Based on this background, it is interesting that the Mr. Shyam Kumar expresses anguish at the 

insensitive manner in which I have narrated the facts touching on his conduct as a lawyer. There is 

certainly a case to be made for anguish, but it is not the lawyer who should be anguished. It should be 

my father who should be anguished at the behavior of the lawyer. I make no apologies for my 

insensitive manner as long as the facts are accurate. My Shyam kumar has not disputed any of the 

facts. His concern is just my insensitive manner. 

13.1.9 It is now obvious that the facts prove that Mr. Shyam Kumar is a disgrace to the legal profession 

and that Mr. Shyam Kumar cheated and lied to my father.  

13.1.10 What is also now obvious is that Mr. Shyam Kumar is in full support of this verdict and he 

believes that verdict was made “on merits based on the pleadings and arguments”. That makes perfect 

sense now. This lawyer colluded to ensure the result!  Even a high school debate student would find the 

judgment by Justice Chandran appalling, yet the professional lawyer who got paid to represent my 

father believes it is based on “merit".  What a shame on the Kerala judicial system! 
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14 Version history 
 

1st Oct 2017: Version 1.0 - Sent to High Court and Political Establishment soliciting response. 

14th Oct 2017: Version 1.1 – Added response from lawyer (section 13) and minor edits. 

18th Nov 2017: Version 1.2 – Added Email Communications until November 18th 2017. 

18th Mar 2018: Version 1.3 – Added Appendix 31 to 35 
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15 Developments post 1st October 2017 
 

Email communications until November 18th 2017 
 

From: Susheel Gopalan [mailto:SusheelGopalan@outlook.com]  

Sent: Saturday, November 18, 2017 11:15 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; josekmanimp@gmail.com; 

anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; 

a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; 

pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; office@tharoor.in; 

vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; 

ak.antony@sansad.nic.in; jus.antonydominic@rediff.com 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil <pgopalan1929@gmail.com>; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; 

cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; 

navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress 

 

I know I speak for millions who suffer in silence because they are unable to do what I am doing.  
 

Kerala High Court colludes with Government in Koyilandy Municipality case! 

     Lawyer:        Shyam Kumar K.T. 
     Secretary:   Cheryl Irene Solomon 
     Chairman:   Adv. K. Sathyan 
     Minister:     Dr. K. T. Jaleel 
     Judge:        Justice Vinod Chandran 

 

 

It appears clear to me that the email response from KELSA on Nov 6th 2017 was at the behest 

of Chief Justice Dominic. While unfortunate, I take this to assume that there is nothing else the 

High Court of Kerala can do in this circumstance. As you might expect, I am disappointed.  

 

http://www.alearnonline.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/KoyiladyMunicipality_1_1.pdf
http://highcourtdirectory.com/Profile/3315
http://www.quilandymunicipality.in/council
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/K._T._Jaleel
http://highcourtofkerala.nic.in/kvc.html
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I will however pursue this at the Supreme Court to the extent humanly possible. I will closely 

monitor the actions of the Mafia at the Koyilandy Municipality over the next several months 

and use their latest actions to appeal to the Supreme court. Even if I fail in that venture, I will 

succeed in exposing the reality that an average citizen in Kerala is disenfranchised of 

fundamental rights when it comes to appealing the decisions of the mafia government, by 

documenting every communication I have had on this matter. 

 

As an aside, I engaged in a discussion with a very high level Advocate in Kerala and received 

verbal threats from this individual for engaging in this pursuit. He obviously didn't have the 

courage to document those threats or his arguments to support those threats in writing. To 

avoid derailing the central focus of my pursuit (ie: why did the Koyilandy municipality hike the 

rates in 2005?), I will avoid mentioning the name of this individual at this time. But I will be sure 

to document the threats in the appendix of my dossier. If the High Court is interested in pursing 

this threat separately, I will be happy to privately share the full details on this matter. I am 

certainly not surprised by these threats. As outlined in the conclusion of my dossier, I have to 

be fully prepared for any eventuality when I take on the establishment. Like a mad dog that is 

cornered, they will use every instrument at their disposal to discredit me. I am convinced that I 

am just in my pursuit and I seek my good conscience as my only true reward. Any individual 

with half a brain cell, will be convinced of this case if they take the time to read the dossier. You 

really don't have to be a genius to understand what is going on here.  

 

I started this email thread on September 30th 2017 to offer the Political and Judicial leadership 

in Kerala an opportunity to respond to allegations 1.21.1 and 1.21.2 in the dossier. No one can 

deny that I have given ample time and opportunity for such a response and yet no one in 

leadership has taken the opportunity to address the facts in this matter. The silence has been 

deafening. And so I will now conclude this pursuit by documenting this email thread as an 

appendix in the dossier. 

 

In conclusion and on a lighter note, I will leave you with the best depiction of 

the Socratic method that has come to embody the principles of jurisprudence in modern times. 

The world will forever remember Professor Kingsfield and his question to Mr. Hart... what are 

the facts of the case Mr. Hart? The Professor always had one constant retort - I want to know 

the facts of the case! I think many on this thread will benefit from spending three minutes to 

watch this. 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qx22TyCge7w. 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qx22TyCge7w
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qx22TyCge7w
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Cheers! 

Susheel 

 

 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: November 11, 2017 10:41 AM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; josekmanimp@gmail.com; 

anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; 

a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; 

pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; office@tharoor.in; 

vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; 

ak.antony@sansad.nic.in; jus.antonydominic@rediff.com 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; 

secretarykldy@rediffmail.com;  

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

[Corrected a few typos in previous email] 
 
I pursue this case because I know I speak for millions who suffer in silence because they are 
unable to do what I am doing.  
 

Kerala High Court colludes with Government in Koyilandy Municipality case! 

     Lawyer:        Shyam Kumar K.T. 
     Secretary:   Cheryl Irene Solomon 
     Chairman:   Adv. K. Sathyan 
     Minister:     Dr. K. T. Jaleel 
     Judge:        Justice Vinod Chandran 

 
Weekly reflections from dossier... 
 

mailto:SusheelGopalan@outlook.com
mailto:minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in
mailto:min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in
mailto:chiefminister@kerala.gov.in
mailto:keralagovernor@gmail.com
mailto:keralarajbhavan@gmail.com
mailto:alphonskj@hotmail.com
mailto:pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com
mailto:mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com
mailto:mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in
mailto:calicutmp@yahoo.co.in
mailto:eahmed@hotmail.com
mailto:pkbijump@gmail.com
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mailto:innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in
mailto:joice.george@sansad.nic.in
mailto:kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in
mailto:josekmanimp@gmail.com
mailto:anto.antony@sansad.nic.in
mailto:kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com
mailto:nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in
mailto:a.sampath@sansad.nic.in
mailto:shashi.tharoor@nic.in
mailto:praveen@tharoor.in
mailto:profhay@gmail.com
mailto:pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in
mailto:Jyothish@tharoor.in
mailto:office@tharoor.in
mailto:vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in
mailto:hckerala@gmail.com
mailto:ekmbar@gmail.com
mailto:ak.antony@sansad.nic.in
mailto:jus.antonydominic@rediff.com
mailto:ambuj.sharma38@nic.in
mailto:cons1.washington@mea.gov.in
mailto:eam@mea.gov.in
mailto:supremecourt@nic.in
mailto:kelsakerala@gmail.com
mailto:navtej.sarna@gmail.com
mailto:secretarykldy@rediffmail.com
http://www.alearnonline.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/KoyiladyMunicipality_1_1.pdf
http://highcourtdirectory.com/Profile/3315
http://www.quilandymunicipality.in/council
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/K._T._Jaleel
http://highcourtofkerala.nic.in/kvc.html


 
 

Page 38 of 114 
Version 1.6 
 

"4.1 Event #7 is the singular source of contention in this entire dossier. There is an abundance of 
evidence to prove that the municipality was fully aware that my mother was staying at the 
property in the 2003 to 2010 period. The fact that the Koyilandy Municipality perpetrated this 
rate hike fully aware of my mother’s occupancy is what convinces me that the Koyilandy 
Municipality is no different than a mafia government. How is it possible for a Municipality to 
claim a house is rented when they are fully aware that the owner’s wife is living in the property? 
And how does the Highest Court of the State overlook that fundamental issue?  
 
4.2 Note that the Municipality never provided anything in writing in 2005 or anytime up to 
29th June 2007 when they were forced to do so. They communicated the demand of over Rs. 
15,000/- verbally. This is indeed very significant. This tells me they were fully conscious of the 
illegality of their demand and they did not want documentation of any sort. In spite of my 
father writing many letters from Sydney asking for details of the so called arrears, no 
information was given to him. Clearly, the plan was for a possible secret deal, to collect the 
money and drop the whole case!  
 
4.6 In order to fully appreciate the context, one needs to be aware of the background of the 
system. Municipality tax receipts is a valuable document for residents to show proof of 
residency to obtain ration cards, gas or electricity connections and such other daily needs. So 
when an ordinary resident approaches the Municipality office for receipts they are to face the 
opportunistic thugs who grab the chance to make money. The situation of a citizen seeking a 
Municipality tax receipt is thoroughly scrutinized to gain maximum leverage for the best secret 
bargain. Residents with overseas connections are often the worst of victims because “they can 
afford to pay”. My mother was clearly treated as a needy person with overseas connections 
who, in their mind, was the perfect candidate to exploit!  
 
4.7 In the letter of the 3rd of Nov 2005, my mother acknowledges making regular visits to the 
Municipality office. Upon further reflection into my mother’s state of mind during this period, it 
is clear to me that my mother was exhibiting signs of extreme anxiety – a prelude to her 
impending Dementia.  
 
4.8 This anxiety is construed by the Municipality officials as a great opportunity to make off-the-
record deals. Looking through the files, they realize there was a rental notice back in 2000. They 
decide to avail this notice for maximum advantage hardly realizing that the notice was already 
extinct on the 5 th July 2001. They actually decide to claim rental property tax rates when they 
know that my mother is living in the property. The Municipality exploited an aged, frail and 
demented lady. They exploited my mother mercilessly. 
 
4.9 How low can a human civilization go? How does any person in their right mind find it in 
them to exploit an aging individual showing signs of mind lapses? If culture and society fails to 
restrain them, wouldn’t the fear of the laws of nature prevent a human from acting in this 
manner? How can you distinguish this behavior from that of an animal in the wild?" 
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Sections 161 through 165 of the Indian Penal code was replaced by the "Prevention of 

Corruption Act, 1988" (PCA -1988). Section 7 of the PCA states... 

 

Whoever, being, or expecting to be a public servant, accepts or obtains or agrees to accept or attempts 

to obtain from any person, for himself or for any other person, any gratification whatever, other than 

legal remuneration, as a motive or reward for doing or forbearing to do any official act or for showing or 

forbearing to show, in the exercise of his official functions, favor or disfavor to any person or for rendering 

or attempting to render any service or disservice to any person, with the Central Government or any State 

Government or Parliament or the Legislature of any State or with any local authority, corporation or 

Government company referred to in clause (c) of section 2, or with any public servant, whether named or 

otherwise, shall be punishable with imprisonment which shall be not less than six months but 

which may extend to five years and shall also be liable to fine. 

 

So when I insist that the government in Kerala is a Mafia, I don't say that casually. I honestly 

believe that they are criminal by the legal definition of the term based on the Indian Penal 

Code. 

 

The only institution that can offer security to citizens from a criminal government is the 

judiciary. This is the fundamental reason why the constitution offers this safeguard in our 

system of government. If the judiciary also succumbs to corruption, then we lose all hope!  

 

In the history of the Indian judiciary, there have been many instances when the judiciary has 

actually fulfilled their obligation to hold the government accountable. Indeed the reason I have 

the legal authority to write about this subject without fear of arrest by the criminal government 

is because the Supreme Court of India Struck down Section 66A of the Information Technology 

Act of 2000 based on an elaborate verdict that drew upon jurisprudence on free speech from 

England and the United States.  

  

I now call upon the Kerala High Court to follow the lead of previous noteworthy judicial rulings 

and reopen the investigation on Writ Petition W.P.C No. 22824 of 2009. An exhibition of such 

diligence and obligation to the people they are expected to serve is the only way the Kerala 

High Court can establish trust with the citizenry of Kerala. The citizens have no other recourse 

when they deal with a corrupt government. Indeed the Kerala High Court is the last best hope 

for the people of Kerala! 

 

https://indiankanoon.org/doc/1569253/
http://www.advocatekhoj.com/library/bareacts/preventionforcorruption/index.php?Title=Prevention%20of%20Corruption%20Act,%201988
http://www.advocatekhoj.com/library/bareacts/preventionforcorruption/index.php?Title=Prevention%20of%20Corruption%20Act,%201988
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shreya_Singhal_v._Union_of_India
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Shreya_Singhal_v._Union_of_India
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My spiritual belief gives me great assurance that those who perpetrated and aided a criminal 

act against my parents will be held responsible in the court of nature and they (every single one 

of them) will undoubtedly be given the punishment that is due to them. But I also know this - if 

those of us with the power to correct these perpetrators here on earth fail to do our duty, 

we too will fail in our obligations to society. We too will be held accountable by nature! 

 

Cheers! 

Susheel 

 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: November 7, 2017 1:29 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; josekmanimp@gmail.com; 

anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; 

a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; 

pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; office@tharoor.in; 

vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; 

ak.antony@sansad.nic.in; jus.antonydominic@rediff.com 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

[+New Chief Justice of Kerala - Justice Dominic] 
 
I have today received the response below from Kelsa Kerala (Kerala State Legal Services 
Authority). I consider this response a classic bureaucratic response that is ignorant of the 
allegations I have raised in my dossier. What I am alleging in my dossier is that the High Court of 
Kerala is colluding with the Government in a case against the Koyilandi Municipality and thus 
betraying the separation of powers enshrined in the Constitution. My dossier is 
substantially more than just a grievance against the judgment of the Hon'ble High Court. What I 
am alleging is that the High Court is failing to serve its most fundamental duty of addressing the 
reliefs sought in a Writ petition. If a court fails to address the reliefs sought in a Writ petition 
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mailto:chiefminister@kerala.gov.in
mailto:keralagovernor@gmail.com
mailto:keralarajbhavan@gmail.com
mailto:alphonskj@hotmail.com
mailto:pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com
mailto:mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com
mailto:mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in
mailto:calicutmp@yahoo.co.in
mailto:eahmed@hotmail.com
mailto:pkbijump@gmail.com
mailto:basheer.et@sansad.nic.in
mailto:mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in
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and instead meanders to different topics, then no amount of challenges will serve any 
purpose. It is simply a waste of time and resources. Besides, the Court does not allow appeals 
after a certain period anyway. So essentially a High Court judge (like Vinod Chandran in this 
case) effectively denies a citizen an opportunity at justice. That is indeed shameful! A disgrace 
to Kerala and a disgrace to India! Such a judge fails the litmus test! The question the court 
needs to answer is why Justice Chandran failed to address the relief sought. You can't have a 
debate on a judgement unless the judgement answers the issues raised in the relief sought. I 
submit that this is corruption at its worst! If the High Court is not corrupt, there are several 
reasonable responses that can be given here. Telling me that I should challenge it in an appeal 
is not one of them! 
 
I have spoken to Chief Justice Dominic at 11:30pm PST on the 5th of November 2017. I applaud 
his office for accepting a call from a common citizen. Justice Dominic has promised to read my 
dossier. Now I await a response from the Honorable Chief Justice of Kerala. 
 
From: Kelsa Kerala <kelsakerala@gmail.com> 

Sent: November 6, 2017 9:13 PM 

To: Susheel Gopalan 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress 

  

Dear Susheel Gopalan 

It appears from your e-mail that your grievance is against the judgment of the Hon'ble High 

Court. The remedy available is to challenge it in appeal before the appropriate court. You are 

requested to do the needful in accordance with law 

Member Secretary, keLSA 

 
Cheers!  

Susheel 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: November 5, 2017 9:22 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 
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kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; 

office@tharoor.in; vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; 

mail@ernakulambarassociation.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; ak.antony@sansad.nic.in 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

 
"As humans we have a moral obligation to handover societies to our children in at least as 

good a form as was handed down to us. From what I have learnt in this dossier, I know if I 

were to take my last breath today, I will not be meeting that obligation. I also know that 

without the support of those in power, I am helpless to change this fate."  

 

If you, the leaders of Kerala today, want to know what I mean by that... I encourage you to 

watch this... 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=CxJZbdP3EEw 

 

Integrity and intellect used to be the hallmark of Kerala... not any more... now we have the 

Mafia in power... they fail to answer the concerns of corruption at the highest levels of 

government... at the highest levels of the judicial system... not a whisper when the proof is 

presented... but they will give big speeches claiming they encourage judicial debate... what a 

shame! 

http://www.alearnonline.com/politics-power-corruption/ 
 
 

Kerala High Court colludes with Government in Koyilandy Municipality case! 

     Lawyer:        Shyam Kumar K.T. 
     Secretary:   Cheryl Irene Solomon 
     Chairman:   Advocate K. Sathyan 
     Minister:     Dr. K. T. Jaleel 
     Judge:        Justice Vinod Chandran 
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Waiting to see what excuse the Koyilandi Municipality is going to use this time to deny my 
father the benefits of the law. They have their puppet Injustice Chandran in the High Court of 
Kerala. They can do anything they like! Corrupt Kerala! Even the High Court is corrupt! What a 
shame! 
 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: October 28, 2017 9:18 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; 

office@tharoor.in; vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; 

mail@ernakulambarassociation.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; ak.antony@sansad.nic.in 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

 
"If the judicial system succumbs to political pressure, the ultimate safeguards of our 
governing principles are compromised. The scales of justice will no longer stay balanced. They 
will tip and so will the last bastion of hope. History teaches us that that is a very heavy price 
for any society to pay. " 
 
http://www.alearnonline.com/politics-power-corruption/ 
 
 

Kerala High Court colludes with Government in Koyilandy Municipality case! 

     Lawyer:        Shyam Kumar K.T. 
     Secretary:   Cheryl Irene Solomon 
     Chairman:   Advocate K. Sathyan 
     Minister:     Dr. K. T. Jaleel 
     Judge:        Justice Vinod Chandran 
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Waiting to see what excuse the Koyilandi Municipality is going to use this time to deny my 
father the benefits of the law. They have their friend Justice Chandran in the High Court. They 
can do anything they like! Corrupt Kerala! Even the High Court is corrupt! What a shame! 
 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: October 21, 2017 2:56 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; 

office@tharoor.in; vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; 

mail@ernakulambarassociation.com; ekmbar@gmail.com; ak.antony@sansad.nic.in 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

Since I have yet to receive any response after 3 weeks, I have published the dossier as is.  
 
You can find it here...  
 
http://www.alearnonline.com/politics-power-corruption/ 
 
 

Kerala High Court colludes with Government in Koyilandy Municipality case! 

     Lawyer:        Shyam Kumar K.T. 
     Secretary:   Cheryl Irene Solomon 
     Chairman:   Advocate K. Sathyan 
     Minister:     Dr. K. T. Jaleel 
     Judge:        Justice Vinod Chandran 
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From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: October 15, 2017 2:30 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; 

office@tharoor.in; vinodchandrank2000@yahoo.co.in; hckerala@gmail.com; 

mail@ernakulambarassociation.com; ekmbar@gmail.com 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in; 

supremecourt@nic.in; kelsakerala@gmail.com; navtej.sarna@gmail.com; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

[Combined thread to politicians and High Courts] 
[CC: Supreme Court of India, Indian Ambassador to the US, Under Secretary (Public) to the PM, 
Ministry of External affairs] 
 
Two weeks have gone by... not a single response from the "leaders of Kerala" or from the 
"custodians of justice in Kerala". 
 
I did get a response from the lawyer. I have updated the dossier to version 1.1 to include the 
lawyer's response as well as my rebuttal to it. 
 
My ask is pretty simple...  
 
1) Read my Dossier and tell me if there is any way you can justify the verdict by Justice 
Chandran of the Highest Court in Kerala. 
2) If you agree with me that this was a classic corruption case, I am willing to forgive all involved 
if they can acknowledge the problem and promise they will never use their power to inflict 
injustice on someone else. Especially not our precious senior citizens or our children!  
3) The money that the Koyilandy municipality stole from my parents should be given to an old 
age home in charity so other Senior citizens can benefit from this ordeal. 
 
On the other hand, if you think my bringing up this matter hurts your ego and you would like to 
exercise revenge, then I am willing to fight to the bitter end. I have come to this planet to serve 
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my Creator and not you the so called "powerful"! Not even death will stop me from that 
service!  
 
As I noted here (http://www.alearnonline.com/about/) in 2004, unabated corruption in India is 
greatest impediment to progress! What distinguishes India from the Developed world, is not 
the lack of talent or will, but corrupt people at very high levels in government. Every nation has 
corrupt people, but when we put these corrupt people in very powerful positions, the entire 
society suffers! It makes a mockery of the claim that the Indian people are capable of self 
government! 
 
Cheers! 
Susheel 
 
 
 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: October 7, 2017 8:54 AM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 

calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in; Jyothish@tharoor.in; 

office@tharoor.in 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; ambuj.sharma38@nic.in; cons1.washington@mea.gov.in; eam@mea.gov.in 

Subject: Re: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

One week has gone by... not a single response from the "leaders of Kerala".... 
 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 

Sent: September 30, 2017 11:38 PM 

To: minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; chiefminister@kerala.gov.in; 

keralagovernor@gmail.com; keralarajbhavan@gmail.com; alphonskj@hotmail.com; 

pkarunakaranmp@gmail.com; mullappally.ramachandran@gmail.com; mi.shanavas@sansad.nic.in; 
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calicutmp@yahoo.co.in; eahmed@hotmail.com; pkbijump@gmail.com; basheer.et@sansad.nic.in; 

mb.rajesh@sansad.nic.in; cn.jayadevan@sansad.nic.in; innocent.mp@sansad.nic.in; 

kvthomas@asia.com; joice.george@sansad.nic.in; kc.venugopal@sansad.nic.in; 

josekmanimp@gmail.com; anto.antony@sansad.nic.in; kodikunnilsuresh@yahoo.com; 

nk.premachandran@sansad.nic.in; a.sampath@sansad.nic.in; shashi.tharoor@nic.in; 

praveen@tharoor.in; profhay@gmail.com; pk.sreemathi@sansad.nic.in 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil; secretarykoyilandy 

Subject: Request for a response to the attached dossier titled: Corruption & Pettiness - The greatest 

impediment to human progress  

  

The Governor of Kerala, The Chief Minister of Kerala, Members of the Govt. of Kerala and the 
Kerala Political establishment: 
 
Find attached a dossier on a 17 year old case with the Koyilandy Municipality in Kerala; I intend 
to publish this dossier in the coming weeks.  
 
Revelations in this dossier are highly critical of the political process in Kerala.  
 
As mentioned in 1.21.2 of the dossier, I would like to give you, the political establishment, 
an opportunity to respond to these allegations so I can include them in the published version of 
this dossier. I will be happy to publish your responses verbatim.  
 
Kind regards,  
Susheel Gopalan 
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Appendixes  

Appendix 1: 2002 Tax receipt 
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Appendix 2: 2003 Tax receipt 
 

 

 

 

  



 
 

Page 50 of 114 
Version 1.6 
 

Appendix 3: 2004 Tax receipt 
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Appendix 4: Letter from my father to Secretary on 12th July 2005  
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Appendix 4a: Letter from my father to Secretary on 12th July 2005 (English translation) 
 

House No. 17/193 in Koyilandy Municipality in Kothamangalam Komathkara is in my possession. I have 

been paying property tax at Rs. 252 for the said property every year from the beginning till 2004-05.  

 

Now all of a sudden, I am to pay Rs. 15,000 and more towards tax, this is the information I have? I 

cannot imagine for such an increase of tax. I have not given the house on rent. It is my wife who is living 

there.  

 

Therefore I humbly request you to keep the tax fixed at the current rate of Rs. 252 per year. 

 

P. Gopalan 

Sydney 

12.07.05 
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Appendix 5: Letter to Chairperson on 21st Oct 2005 
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Appendix 5a: Letter to Chairperson on 21st Oct 2005 (English translation) 
 

Honored Sir, 

Ref: Letter sent to Municipal Secretary dated 12.7.05 

I am the owner of House No. 17/193 in Koyilandy Municipality, Kothamangalam Koyilandy Komathkara. I 

have been paying tax for the said house at the rate of Rs. 252 per year from the beginning till now – 

financial year 2004-05. When I left home, I looked up the house and left the key with my nephew – 

Parambil Balan, Rtd health Inspector, “Krishna”, Kothamangalam Koyilandy – to pay all taxes due in 

specified period. Accordingly it is Sree Balan who paid all taxes on time for me. 

Thus on 29.6.2005 when Balan went to pay tax Rs. 252 for the financial year 2005-06, he was told we 

were to pay over Rs. 15000 toward arrears of taxes. This is the only time we are informed of the these 

arrears. I had no information before. I didn’t give the house on rent. It is my wife who is living there. 

Therefore I humbly request you please keep the property tax for the above house at the same rate of Rs. 

252 as there is no reason for increasing the tax. 

-  
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Appendix 6: Letter from my mother to the Secretary on 3rd November 2005  
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Appendix 6a: Letter from my mother to the Secretary on 3rd November 2005 (English translation) 
 

Mrs. Arundhathi Gopalan 

Parambil House 

Kothamangalam  

Koyilandy 

 

The Secretary, 

Municipal Cooperation office  

Koyilandy 

 

Sir, 

I am the wife of Parambil Gopalan Nair residing in the house of my husband since 2003 - House No. 

17/193. I enquired about the corporation tax soon after I started living there. I received information that 

tax for 2003-04 is already paid and that the next payment is due in 2005. 

But in 2005 they showed reluctance to collect tax from us. The reason was not clearly let known to us 

then. What was stated was that there is time till March to pay tax. 

I had gone again on 18.10.05. At that time the Secretary had just completed a meeting and I was able 

meet and inform him of the complaint. Another officer staff member came up in the meantime with 

some problems and as I started to leave the secretary asked me to give a complaint in writing. All other 

staff had gone for field work and I couldn’t see anyone else. 

On 20.10.05 after 2pm I went again. Even though I met 2 or 3 staff members I could not get a clear reply. 

So I approached a clerk keeping files. At that time another young man came up and called out as 

follows… “ without giving the house for the secretary on rent, it was given to joji, an agricultural officer 

from 1.4.2000 at Rs. 1750, but Joji vacated within 2 or 3 months and left”. 

I was not around the place in 2000. When enquired from neighbors they said Joji and wife only stayed 

for a few days. When I searched for the clerk in the particular seat for more information, the said clerk 

gave the following information:  

“Agricultural officer Joji stayed from 1.4.2000 at Rs. 1750 rent and accordingly tax was imposed Rs. 

1801. We have to pay the balance after deducting Rs. 252 already paid from 2000 to 2005.” 

1. Is it proper to impose tax from 2000 to 2005 on the basis of rent paid by Joji who stayed only for 

a few days and left? 

2. Is it proper to impose rental property tax rates even after I started to live permanently from 

2003? 

3. Is it a punishment for not giving the house to the Secretary? 

4. The municipality that knows exactly about the rent and how many days Joji lived in the house, 

that was completed in 2000 etc. why did it fail to correct the tax then? 

5. Why did the municipal office not inform me about the rules even though I started living in the 

house from 2003 and I went to the municipal office many times for my own purpose. 
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6. It is my knowledge and belief that panchayad and municipality are schemes to help people. 

Having only a few more days to live, am I to correct my belief at this age of mine. 

 

Copy to the Chief Minister of Kerala 

Signed and dated by Mrs. Arundhathi Gopalan on 3.11.05 
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Appendix 7: Attempt to force Municipality to respond 20th June 2007 
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Appendix 7a: Attempt to force Municipality to respond 20th June 2007 (English translation) 
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Appendix 8: First response from Municipality 20th June 2007 
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Appendix 8a: First response from Municipality 20th June 2007 (English translation) 
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Appendix 9: Second response from Municipality 25th Feb 2008 
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Appendix 9a: Second response from Municipality 25th Feb 2008 (English translation) 
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Appendix 10: Third response from Municipality on 20th Feb 2009 
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Appendix 10a: Third response from Municipality on 20th Feb 2009 (English translation) 
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Appendix 11: Writ Petition 22824/2009 
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Appendix 12: Stay Order on 11th August 2009 
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Appendix 13: High Court Ruling on 26th Sept 2016 
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Appendix 14: Fourth response form Municipality on 18th November 2006 
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Appendix 15: Full payment of arrears made on 2nd Dec 2016 
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Appendix 16: Official request to waive property tax for vacant house on December 12 

2016 
 

From: Susheel Gopalan  

Sent: Monday, December 12, 2016 9:46 PM 

To: secretarykoyilandy   

Subject: Re: Building Number 17/193 - FORMAL NOTICE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT A RENTAL 

PROPERTY 

Importance: High 

  

Madam Secretary, 
  
Further to my email below, It has come to my attention that your office has been informed that 
the house is unoccupied on six separate occasions prior to my email below. 
  
The following are the dates on which your office has been informed along with official receipt 
numbers indicating you received this notice. 

 25 June 2011 – Reciept number 13875/11 

 5 Sept 2011 – Receipt number 17040/11 

 17 Feb 2012 – Recept number 2052/12 

 1 Oct 2012 – Receipt number 11365/12 

 26 Nov 2012 – Receipt number 13333/12 

 18 Jan 2013 – Registered post. 
So it is obvious to me now that your actions to continue to classify this house as a rental 
property is for reasons other than a lack of notice.  
  
I will pursue this matter not for the monetary cause, but for the principle of self-government 
that it betrays. I am reminded of the Federalist papers where James Madison declared that "If 

angels were to govern men, neither external nor internal controls on government would be 

necessary. In framing a government which is to be administered by men over men, the 

great difficulty lies in this: you must first enable the government to control the governed, 

and in the next place oblige it to control itself." 
  

Of what use are examinations designed to measure the caliber of individuals entrusted with 

the power of government, if these individuals fail to see their obligation to duty toward the 

citizenry. Does it not reflect the greatest fears of the founding fathers who attempted the 

greatest of human experiment when they so profoundly chose an alternate system of 

government to monarchy.  
  

If position is more a reflection of desire than aptitude, I have no doubt that any nation that 

adopts the principles of self government is doomed to failure. 
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Cheers! 
Susheel 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan   

Sent: December 10, 2016 8:29 PM 

To: secretarykoyilandy 

Subject: Building Number 17/193 - FORMAL NOTICE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT A RENTAL PROPERTY  

  

To:  

  
Cheryl Irene Solomon 
Secretary, 
KOYILANDY MUNICIPALITY 
  
I am Susheel Gopalan, son of Parambil Gopalan and I am writing this email on behalf of my 
father who owns the above property. 
  
This email is to formally notify your office that the above property is not a rental property.  
  
My mother Mrs. A. Gopalan occupied the above property from 2003 to 2010. Ever since 
2010, the house is locked up for most of the year except when I visit India which so far has been 
no more than 2 weeks every year. Both my parents now reside in Australia and have no 
intention of occupying this house any longer. Hence I am taking over the  management of this 
property on behalf of my parents.  
  
The following is the history of the Property Tax payments that I have gathered so far: 

 2000 - 2001 : Rs. 252 (Plus an additional Rs 1549 on 18th March 2001) 
 2001 - 2002 : Rs. 252 

 2002 - 2003 : Rs. 252 

 2003 - 2004 : Rs. 252 

 2004 - 2005 : Rs. 252 

 2005 - 2006 : Rs. 252 

 2006 - 2007 : Rs. 252 

 2007 - 2008 : Rs. 252 

 2008 - 2009 : Rs. 252 (WRIT PETITION CIVIL  22824  Of  2009 filed with High Court 

of Kerala - and Stay order issued by High Court) 

 2009 - 2010 : Rs. 252 

 2010 - 2011 : Rs. 252 

 2011 - 2012 : Rs. 252  
 2012 - 2013 : Rs. 252 

 2013 - 2014 : Rs. 252 
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 2014 - 2015 : Rs. 252 

 2015 - 2016 : Rs. 252 

 2016 - 2017 : Rs. 252 

 29th Sept 2016 - I see the case status for WP(C) 22824 as "Disposed" 
in http://courtnic.nic.in/kerala_new/content.asp - No response from the lawyer, so I have 

no idea what led to that judgement. 

 18th Nov 2016 - Letter from Municipality saying balance due is Rs. Rs. 26,333.00 

 2nd Dec 2016 - Paid Rs. 26,333.00 in full and was told the house is still categorized as a 
rental property and changing the status would require a letter to the Secretary. 

I visited your office on the 9th of September 2016 and met you in person. During that meeting 
I informed you that the above property is NOT a rental property. You responded by saying that 
you were grateful that I wanted to resolve the matter promptly and that you will do the needy 
to facilitate an expedited resolution. Needless to say I am disappointed to hear that your office 
continues to consider the above property a rental property. 
  
I am writing once again to let you know that the above property is not a rental property and 
it is very unjust to consider the above property a rental property. 
  
I hope you will acknowledge receipt of this formal notice and take the necessary action to 
resolve this issue. 
  
Kind regards 
Susheel Gopalan 
 

  

http://courtnic.nic.in/kerala_new/content.asp
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Appendix 17: Response from Municipality regarding request to waive property taxes for 

vacant property on 11th April 2017 
 

 
  
  

KOYILANDY MUNICIPALITY 
 Office: 0496 - 2620244, 2620881, Fax: 2620881 

  
R1-4873/08.                                                                                                          Date: 11.04.17. 
  

NOTICE 
  
            Sub:-   Koyilandy Municipality – Revenue Section – Building Tax – reg. 
            Ref:-    1) Your email dtd. 13.12.16 

2) Report of Revenue  Inspector. 
*** *** 

            This is to inform you that with reference to your above email for the exemption of 

property tax you should submit VR  application addressed to the Secretary Koyilandy 

Municipality before  each half year wise. 

  
  
                                                                                                            Secretary, 
                                                                                                Koyilandy Municipality. 
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Appendix 18: Request to Municipality to clarify email dated 11.04.17  sent on April 12th 

2017 

 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan   

Sent: April 12, 2017 11:53 PM 

To: Susheel Gopalan; secretarykoyilandy 

Cc: Gopalan Parambil 

Subject: RE: Building Number 17/193 - FORMAL NOTICE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT A RENTAL 

PROPERTY  

  

Madam Secretary, 
  
I acknowledge your response below dated 11th April 2017 to my email dated 13th Dec 2016 (12th Dec 
2016 in Pacific Standard Time). My emails to which you are responding are also documented below. 
  
So It appears it takes four months for your office to respond to a communication. At that pace, we 
should average about 2 communications per year.  
  
In any case, after four months, the response below is meaningless to me. I can’t tell whether you are 
agreeing that the house is vacant and hence qualifies for the exemption or you are not. 
  
Further, you refer to an additional requirement for a “VR” application to be filed; However, you make no 
effort to clarify what a “VR” application is, nor do state where I can get a copy of this application.  
  
You also state “before each half year wise” as the timeline when the “VR” application should be filed. 
I assume this means “bi-annually”. If so, you fail to state the months when this should be filed. 
  
Without knowing what a “VR” application is, where I can get this application and in which months I 
should file it, you will appreciate that there is absolutely nothing actionable for me in your notice 
below. 
  
While I can think of a couple of reasons why you would respond with such vagary , let me offer you the 
benefit of the doubt and give you an opportunity to clarify the above issues.  
  
I hope this time you can afford to be a little more generous with your time, so that I don’t have to wait 
for another 4 months.  
  
I am clearly documenting this communication in sequence so that the history will be clear at a future 
point. 
  
Cheers! 
Susheel 
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Appendix 19: Response from Municipality on “VR” clarification request on 22nd April 2017 

 
22nd April 2017 
 
Translated text: 

Sir, 
Sub:- Koyilandy Municipality / Revenue Department / Building Taxes 

Ref :- Notice from this office dated 11 April 2017 and your email dated 12 April 
2017 regarding ... 
Giving below reply to question you asked for. 

1. VR means Vacancy Revision. According to section 239 of Kerala 

Municipal Act ( KM Act ) if a property which has been generally  rented 

or occupied by the owner is lying vacant or non-rented for a half year 

period in an year, the owner is entitled to apply for reduction of taxes 

for that particular half year period. 

  

2. VR has no separate application form. It  can be written in own hand 

writing on a white paper and submitted to the Secretary before 

September 30 and March 31 each half year. Then the Revenue 

Inspector will conduct an inspection at the site and later on that report 

your VR request may be allowed. 

  

Faithfully 

Secretary. 
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Appendix 20: Further clarification sort on “VR” application on April 25th 2017 

 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan   
Sent: April 25, 2017 12:09 AM 
To: secretarykoyilandy; minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in 
Cc: Gopalan Parambil 
Subject: RE: Building Number 17/193 - FORMAL NOTICE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT A RENTAL 
PROPERTY 
  
[Ensuring Minister of Local Admin has visibility to this email] 
  
Madam Secretary, 
  
I have been told that your garbled message below is because of the use of a malayalum font. I have got 
someone to translate the contents as noted below. 
  
I am asking your office for the following clarifications: 
  

1. Is the translation below accurate? 
2. If it is accurate, why was my email of Dec 12th 2016 below not sufficient for the March 

2017 deadline? Does section 239 of the KM Act disallow notification via email? 
3. Why have I not received the report that my VR request of Dec 12th 2016 was allowed or 

disallowed for the half year that ended on March 2017? 
4. Is the request to get a handwritten notice on whitepaper an attempt to delay justice 

further since you can easily say that you never received my mail? 
5. Is the reason to delay your response to April to ensure I miss the March deadline? 

  
Cheers! 
Susheel 
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Appendix 21: Official notice house is vacant from March to September 2016 sent on July 

17th 2017 
 

 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan   
Sent: July 17, 2017 1:01 PM 
To: secretarykoyilandy; minister-localadmin@kerala.gov.in; min.lsgd@kerala.gov.in; 
chiefminister@kerala.gov.in 
Cc: Gopalan Parambil 
Subject: Re: Building Number 17/193 - FORMAL NOTICE THAT THE PROPERTY IS NOT A RENTAL 
PROPERTY 
  
[Ensuring Chief Minister of Kerala has visibility to this email] 
 
Madam Secretary, 
 
This is formal notice that the above house continues to be vacant. Hoping this notice will suffice 
the requirements 6-month period ending September 2017. 
 
Official complaint of lack of action by Municipality has been lodged with the Prime Minister's 
office. Complaint registration number PMOPG/E/2017/0276548.  Complaint has been 
forwarded to Gopal. V.S., Joint Secretary, Chief Ministers P.G. Redress cell, Govt. Sectt. 
 
I am documenting the sequence clearly, because I intend to go to the Supreme Court at some 
point if this issue is not resolved. 
 
Cheers! 
Susheel 
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Appendix 22: Response to official notice house is vacant from March to September 2016 
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Appendix 22a: Response to official notice house is vacant from March to September 2016 

(English translation) 
 

Sir,  

RE: Regarding exemption of house tax  

Your letter dated 18.7.17 

 

Reply sought on the subject under “reg” is given below; you are notified that the application submitted 

by tax exemption is not according to rules and therefore can’t be considered. 

Section 239 of municipality act clearly states about the guidelines for relaxation of tax on buildings that 

are vacant. Besides, the municipality has published the methods of receipts of various services from the 

municipality by every citizen. The application submitted to the municipality for relaxation of tax is to be 

examined if it according to the said rules.  

As the tax has not been relaxed you are to pay the dues accrued so far and for the next half year 

(1.10.17 to 31.3.18) as the building will remain vacant, application to relax the tax is to be submitted 

before the end of the last month of this half year (9/17), according to rules either directly or through 

agent and during the subsequent enquiries by the municipality if it is found that the argument raised by 

you are correct and during the half year the building has not been used even for one day, then you 

will be entitled to exemption. 
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Appendix 23: Official grievance lodged with Prime Minister’s office on 11th May 2017 
 

 

Registration Number : PMOPG/E/2017/0276548 

Name Of Complainant : Susheel Gopalan 

Date of Receipt : 11 May 2017 

Received by : Prime Ministers Office 

Forwarded to : Government of Kerala 

Officer name : RAVEENDRAN.K 

Officer Designation : Joint Secretary 

Contact Address : Chief Ministers P.G. Redress 

  Cell, Govt. Sectt., 

  Thiruvanthapuram695501 

Contact Number : 04712518939 

Grievance Description : Dear Prime Minister, This Grievance is with the Koyilandi municipality in 

Kerala state. I have tried to contact the State Minister to no avail. The 

basic is issue is simple. In 2000, the municipality inaccurately claimed our 

house in Kerala was rented. The same year we paid the rental property tax 

rates and filed an appeal to correct the problem. The municipality then 

accepted the regular rates (non-rental) in 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004. 

Then in 2005, someone from the municipality approached us to give the 

house for rent to the new Secretary of the municipality. We told them the 

house is not available for rent. As a revenge for not giving the house, they 

again classified the house as a rental property in 2005. We went to the 

High court of Kerala in 2008. The case dragged on till 2016 and the 

municipality used the communist party influence to win the case and I paid 

all the arrears at the rental property rates. Attached is the letter I sent the 

municipality after paying all the arrears until 2016 claiming the property is 

vacant. Notice how they continue to use delay tactics to not follow the rule 

of law and still claim the house is rented. There is a web site to lodge a 

complaint with the Chief Minister of Kerala. But that site is not functional. I 

am now pleading for help from you the Prime Minister. This case 

demonstrates how corrupt the government is. Because I refuse to pay 

bribes, I have to suffer. I am begging for your intervention in this matter. 

Please read the attached email thread and you will clearly see my 

predicament. Kind regards Susheel Gopalan 

Date of Action : 12 May 2017 
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Appendix 24: Municipality Act related to vacancies 
 

http://www.sanchitha.ikm.in/sites/default/files/KERALA_%20MUNICIPALITY_%20ACT_1994.pdf 

 

239. Vacancy remission.— f 1) When any building whether ordinarily let or occupied by the 
owner himself has been vacant and unlet for a half-year, the owner shall be entitled to a 
remission of tax for that half-year.  
 
(2) If the owner had already paid the tax in respect of a half-year in which a remission is due, he 
shall be entitled to get either refund or shall be entitled to get the amount adjusted in the tax 
for the succeeding half-year.  
 
(3)(a) No such remission shall be admissible unless the owner of the building or his agent has 
previously thereto delivered notice to the Secretary- (i) that the building is vacant and unlet, or 
(ii) that the building will be vacant and unlet from a specified date either in the half-year in 
which notice is delivered or in the succeeding half-year.  
 
(b) Every notice under clause (a) shall expire with the half-year succeeding the half-year during 
which it is so delivered and shall have no effect thereafter.  
 

 

  

http://www.sanchitha.ikm.in/sites/default/files/KERALA_%20MUNICIPALITY_%20ACT_1994.pdf
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Appendix 25: Filed official vacancy notice through agent for period Oct 2017 – March 

2018 
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Appendix 26: Receipt of official vacancy notice filed through agent for period Oct 2017 – 

March 2018 
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Appendix 27: Paid property taxes at Rental rates for a vacant house for the period April 

2017 to September 2017 
 

 

 

 

  



 
 

Page 97 of 114 
Version 1.6 
 

Appendix 28: Full email thread between lawyer and I 
 

From: Shyam Kumar   

Sent: October 4, 2017 12:45 AM 

To: Susheel Gopalan 

Subject: Re: A dossier detailing the case that you represented my father in. 

  

Dear Mr. Gopalan, 

 

  It is the prerogative of the judge to mention the name of the counsel in the body of the judgment. The name of 

the counsel representing the petitioner is clearly mentioned in the cause title of the judgment.  Merely because 

the name of the counsel is not mentioned in the body of the judgment, it does not mean that the petitioner was 

not represented by his counsel in the proceedings.  The case was considered by the Court on merits based on the 

pleadings and arguments and a judgment was rendered. I have not noticed the earlier email which you have 

mentioned here.  Hence it is uncharitable to cast aspersions based on surmises and conjunctures.   I express my 

anguish at the insensitive manner in which you have narrated the facts touching on my conduct as a lawyer.  I do 

not belong to the class of lawyers about whom you have mentioned in the dossier.  Hence you my desist from 

making any such disparaging statements in this regard.  

 

Adv. K.T.Shyam Kumar   

On Sun, Oct 1, 2017 at 8:02 AM, Susheel Gopalan  wrote: 

Mr. Kumar, 
 
Find attached a dossier that I intend to publish in the coming weeks for the whole world to see.  
 
Unfortunately your efforts to represent my father is not viewed in a favorable light in this dossier.  
 
If you wish to respond to the allegations in this dossier related to your professional work, I will be happy to add 
your response before publishing this dossier. 
 
If you prefer to stay silent like you have done so far without even sharing the verdict, that is ok too, but world 
needs to know. 
 

Cheers! 
Susheel Gopalan 
 

 

 

From: Susheel Gopalan   

Sent: July 17, 2017 11:22 PM 

To: Shyam Kumar 

Subject: Re: High court order 
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Mr. Kumar, Attached is the copy of the judgment that you failed to produce. I am curious if you ever showed up in 
court for this event? Doesn't look like there is any mention that you represented us in anyway. 
 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan   

Sent: September 20, 2016 7:34 AM 

To: Shyam Kumar; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: Re: High court order 

  

Mr. Kumar I am anxiously waiting for a copy of the ruling. Grateful if you can send that at the earliest. 
 
Much obliged! 
Susheel 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan   

Sent: September 9, 2016 2:51 AM 

To: Shyam Kumar; secretarykldy@rediffmail.com 

Subject: RE: High court order 

[+kldy municipal secretary] 

 

Many thanks Mr. Kumar. I had brief chat with the Secretary today and she (Ms. Solomon) indicated that once you 

send a copy of the court's ruling to her she will be able to resolve the issue. 

 

I have added Ms. Solomon to this email thread. Grateful if you can reply all to this thread with a copy of the court 

ruling on the 19th. 

 

Many thanks, 

Susheel 

 

From: Shyam Kumar 

Sent:  9  9  2016 3:06 PM 

To: Susheel Gopalan   

Subject: High court order 

Sir, 

 

   As per the high court order there is a stay of recovery of enhanced amount of tax from Mr. Parambil Gopalan. So 

the Municipality can collect tax only as per the pre revised rate. I had earlier entrusted a copy of  the order to Mr. 

Gopalan. Since the courts are closing for Onam vacation today I will be able to get another copy of the order only 

on 19th. 

 

Regards 

Adv. K.T.SHYAM KUMAR 

  

mailto:secretarykldy@rediffmail.com
mailto:secretarykldy@rediffmail.com
mailto:advktshyamkumar@gmail.com
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Appendix 29: My father’s letter to lawyer after he learnt of the High Court ruling 
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Appendix 30: My father’s phone calls to his lawyer 
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Appendix 31: Municipality Letter claiming there are arrears need 
 

Notice how the claim below makes no mention of what the arrears are… 
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Appendix 32: My email asking Municipality what the arrears in Appendix 31 refers to  
 

There was no response to this email. 

 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 
Sent: January 8, 2018 8:17 AM 
To: secretarykoyilandy 
Cc: pgopalan1929@gmail.com 
Subject: Re: BUILDING TAX -REG 

  

Secretary, 
 
Thank you for the email.  
 
Please note that your office has been notified of a change in address many times before. The 
mailing address in your correspondence is incorrect. The correct address is... 
 
Parambil Gopalan 
15 Dorothy Mowll Court, 
Broughton Avenue, 
Castle Hill 
NSW - 2154 
 
Note that Building tax arrears have been completely paid till Sept 30th 2017. Can you please 
answer the following questions: 
 
1) Can you tell me what the remaining arrears amount is and for what period it covers?  
2) Can you tell me if that amount is based on rental property tax rates or owner occupied 
property tax rates? 
3) If it is based on rental property tax rates, can you explain why that is the case? 
4) Can you tell me how long after each six month deadline, you verify if a building is vacant and 
approve the VR? 
5) Can you tell me what you do with the advance payment you are asking for if the VR is 
subsequently approved? 
 
Thanks! 
Susheel 
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Appendix 33: Filed official vacancy notice through agent for period April 2018 – Sept 

2018 
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Appendix 34: Receipt of official vacancy notice filed through agent for period April 2018 – 

Sept 2018 
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Appendix 35: Paid property taxes at Rental rates for a vacant house for the period 

October 2017 to March 2018 
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Appendix 36: Filed official vacancy notice through agent for period Oct 2018 – Mar 2019 
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Appendix 37: Receipt of official vacancy notice filed through agent for period Oct 2018 – 

Mar 2019 
 

 

 

  



 
 

Page 108 of 114 
Version 1.6 
 

Appendix 38: Receipt of Land tax filing for 2018-19 
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Appendix 39: Requested written confirmation of VR allowance for April 2018 to 

September 2018 
 

 
From: Susheel Gopalan <SusheelGopalan@outlook.com> 
Sent: September 24, 2018 10:54 AM 
To: secretarykoyilandy 
Cc: pgopalan1929@gmail.com 
Subject: Re: BUILDING TAX -REG 
  
Secretary, 
 
With reference to your email below, can you please confirm in writing that VR was allowed for 
the period March 2018 to September 2018? 
 
Thank you 
Susheel 
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Appendix 40: Filed official vacancy notice through agent for period April 2019 – Sept 

2019 
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Appendix 41: Receipt of official vacancy notice filed through agent for period April 2019 – 

Sept 2019 
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Appendix 42: Receipt of Land tax filing for 2019-20 
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Appendix 43: Filed official vacancy notice through agent for period Oct 2019 – Mar 2020 
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Appendix 44: Receipt of official vacancy notice filed through agent for period Oct 2019 – 

Mar 2020   
 

 

 


